BP 22

ATCM 13, CEP	Agenda Item:
10c	
SCAR	Presented by:
English	Original:
18/05/2015	Submitted:

A meta-analysis of human disturbance impacts on Antarctic wildlife

Background paper in support of WP027: Wildlife approach distances in Antarctica Original version available from <u>http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.12184/abstract</u>

1

A meta-analysis of human disturbance impacts on Antarctic wildlife

Bernard W. T. Coetzee* and Steven L. Chown

School of Biological Sciences, Monash University, Melbourne, Victoria 3800, Australia

ABSTRACT

Evidence-based assessments are increasingly recognized as the best-practice approach to determine appropriate conservation interventions, but such assessments of the impact of human disturbance on wildlife are rare. Human disturbance comprises anthropogenic activities that are typically non-lethal, but may cause shortand/or longer-term stress and fitness responses in wildlife. Expanding human activity in the Antarctic region is of particular concern because it increases the scope and potential for increased human disturbance to wildlife in a region that is often thought of as relatively untouched by anthropogenic influences. Here, we use a meta-analytical approach to synthesise research on human disturbance to wildlife over the last three decades in the Antarctic and sub-Antarctic region. We combine data from 62 studies across 21 species on the behavioural, physiological and population responses of wildlife to pedestrian, vehicle and research disturbances. The overall effect size indicated a small, albeit statistically significant negative effect of disturbance (-0.39; 95% CI: -0.60)to -0.18). Negative effects were found for both physiological and population responses, but no evidence was found for a significant impact on wildlife behavioural responses. Negative effects were found across pedestrian, vehicle and research disturbances. Significant and high among-study heterogeneity was found in both disturbance and response sub-groups. Among species, it remains unclear to what extent different forms of disturbance translate into negative population responses. Most current guidelines to limit wildlife disturbance impacts in Antarctica recommend that approaches be tailored to animal behavioural cues, but our work demonstrates that behavioural changes do not necessarily reflect more cryptic, and more deleterious impacts, such as changes in physiology. In consequence, we recommend that pedestrian approach guidelines in the Antarctic region be revisited. Due to the high heterogeneity in effects, management guidelines for different sites and species will need to be developed on a case-by-case basis, ideally in conjunction with carefully designed experiments. Guidelines to reduce the impact of research activities per se require development to reduce the potential impacts of conducting research. We identify research questions that, if answered, will further improve the evidence base for guidelines to manage human disturbance in Antarctica.

Key words: Antarctic conservation, Antarctic policy, conservation evidence, human disturbance impacts, systematic review.

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	2
II.	Methods	3
	(1) Overview	3
	(2) Search strategy	3
	(3) Data capture	4
	(a) Data extraction	4
	(b) Sub-group designation	6
	(4) Data analysis	6
	(a) Main meta-analysis	6
	(b) Heterogeneity statistics	7
	(c) Bias analysis	$\overline{7}$

* Address for correspondence (Tel: +61 3 990 20910; E-mail: bwtcoetzee@gmail.com).

	(<i>d</i>) Effect size direction	7
	(e) Moderator variables	7
III.	Results	8
IV.	Discussion	10
V.	Conclusions	13
VI.	Acknowledgements	15
VII.	References	15
VIII.	Supporting Information	19

I. INTRODUCTION

Evidence-based conservation interventions have seen much recent growth in scope and number. Impetus to employ such approaches has come from the realisation that poorly supported practices result in suboptimal conservation outcomes (Sutherland *et al.*, 2004). By contrast, an evidence-based strategy, usually adopting a formal systematic review, promotes objective and defensible actions (Sutherland *et al.*, 2004; Pullin & Knight, 2005; Stewart, Pullin & Coles, 2007; Cook, Possingham & Fuller, 2013). Importantly, it also enables practitioners to modify interventions to achieve the greatest benefit as new evidence becomes available.

Although human disturbance impacts on wildlife are a growing conservation concern globally (Carney & Sydeman, 1999; Frid & Dill, 2002; Beale & Monaghan, 2004b; Blumstein et al., 2005; Barron, Brawn & Weatherhead, 2010), systematic reviews (in the sense of Cook et al., 2013) of these impacts are uncommon (Stankowich, 2008; Barron et al., 2010). Rarely defined in the literature, human disturbance to wildlife is usually construed as anthropogenic activities that are typically non-lethal, but might cause either short- or longer-term stress or fitness responses. A suite of human activities, including construction, transport, natural resource extraction and tourism are sources of wildlife disturbance (Carney & Sydeman, 1999; Beale & Monaghan, 2004b; Blumstein et al., 2005; Bejder et al., 2006). Wildlife might also react to humans as 'predation-free predators', with a range of associated costs (Beale & Monaghan, 2004a). Both real predation and non-lethal human disturbance can create similar trade-offs for wildlife, between avoiding perceived risk from indirect predation effects and investing in other activities that benefit fitness, such as parental care, feeding, mating or breeding (Frid & Dill, 2002; Blumstein et al., 2005). As a consequence, human disturbance can alter species behaviour (Carney & Sydeman, 1999; Holmes et al., 2006; Burger & Gochfeld, 2007; Holmes, 2007) and physiology (Gabrielsen & Smith, 1995; Wikelski & Cooke, 2006). Such changes might ultimately result in declines in fitness, abundance and persistence (Ruhlen et al., 2003; Stankowich, 2008; Barron et al., 2010; Saraux et al., 2011).

Human disturbance to wildlife is of particular concern in the broader Antarctic region. On the continent and its surrounding islands, human activities in the

form of science and tourism are often co-located with areas supporting large numbers of breeding seabirds or seals (Tin et al., 2009; Hughes et al., 2011; Shaw et al., 2014). In the case of tourism, activities focus on such colonies in particular, as is clear from analyses of site visits (Naveen et al., 2001; Lynch et al., 2009) and guidelines for visits to various sites (Poncet & Poncet, 2007; Poncet & Crosbie, 2012). Science activities often require direct interventions such as tagging or device fitting (Saraux et al., 2011), which can cause disturbance (Barron et al., 2010), but associated logistic support can also cause substantial disturbance (Cooper, Avenant & Lafite, 1994; Hughes et al., 2008; Peter et al., 2013). Such activities are on the increase as the numbers of tourists to the region rises and new scientific stations are constructed (Chown et al., 2012b), which increase human disturbance potential.

The potential impacts of human activities on Antarctic wildlife have long been recognized. Article 3 of Annex II to the Protocol on Environmental Protection to the Antarctic Treaty states that 'harmful interference [to fauna and flora] shall be prohibited' (ATS, 1991). In consequence, several guidelines have been developed to reduce human disturbance. These include guidelines for the operations of aircraft (ATCP, 2004; Harris, 2005; de Villiers, 2008), guidelines for tourists (IAATO, 2014), and general guidelines for pedestrians (AAD, 2014; ANZ, 2014). These guidelines recognize the potential sensitivity of various species to disturbance given the nature of the region and differences among sites and species (ATCP, 2004; Harris, 2005; de Villiers, 2008; AAD, 2014; ANZ, 2014; IAATO, 2014). Nonetheless, as is frequently the case for conservation interventions elsewhere (Sutherland et al., 2004), the origins of the recommendations to limit wildlife disturbance are frequently not clear or are based on just a few studies (Harris, 2005; ATS, 2014).

In an unpublished narrative review, which formed the basis for a discussion of disturbance effects at the Antarctic Treaty (ATCM XXXI WP12, 2008), de Villiers (2008) pointed out that general interpretations of disturbance effects are complicated, at least in part, by the diversity of studies in the field. These include several human disturbance types, focal taxa, the documented responses of biodiversity and regions under investigation. For example, behavioural stress responses might or might not increase with human disturbance depending

on the species investigated (Fowler, 1999; Engelhard et al., 2002a; Holmes et al., 2006; Burger & Gochfeld, 2007; Holmes, 2007). Similarly, changes in stress physiology (Regel & Putz, 1997; Weimerskirch et al., 2002), such as increases in heart rate under disturbance (Pfeiffer & Peter, 2004), can be negligible when species are habituated (Viblanc et al., 2012). Human disturbance has also been broadly implicated in population declines (Wilson et al., 1991; Woehler et al., 1991, 1994; Micol & Jouventin, 2001; Harris, 2009; Saraux et al., 2011), declines in breeding success (Giese, 1996; McClung et al., 2004; Ellenberg et al., 2007; Saraux et al., 2011) and the desertion of preferred breeding sites (Robertson, 1997). By contrast, in different regions, for a suite of species, population declines driven by human disturbance cannot solely be attributed to disturbance, but might rather also be the consequence of other environmental drivers (Cobley & Shears, 1999; Micol & Jouventin, 2001; Carlini et al., 2007). Clearly, the impacts of human disturbance are variable in Antarctica, and in consequence, the generality, direction and strength of the responses of wildlife to human disturbance remain unclear (de Villiers, 2008). In consequence, current guidelines to minimize human disturbance in Antarctica might either be poorly supported by available evidence, or might be inappropriate.

Here, we use a systematic review framework in conjunction with a meta-analysis to examine the evidence for human disturbance impacts in Antarctica, including the sub-Antarctic. Our overarching question is: does human disturbance alter bird and mammal behaviour, physiology and/or population responses in the greater Antarctic region? Unlike a narrative review (e.g. de Villiers, 2008), a meta-analytical approach enables the statistical combination of a variety of responses and disturbances into a single framework, and more importantly, can reveal the direction and also increase the precision of estimates across disturbance types and wildlife responses (Koricheva, Gurevitch & Mengersen, 2013).

II. METHODS

(1) Overview

We followed the systematic review approach as set out by Pullin & Stewart (2006) and conducted a meta-analysis using best-practice approaches (Koricheva *et al.*, 2013). Pullin & Stewart (2006) recommend that the review question be formulated in consultation with relevant stakeholders. Our approach resulted directly from a request by Antarctic Treaty Parties to investigate guidelines underpinning wildlife approach distances in the Antarctic to minimize anthropogenic disturbance (ATCM XXX, 2007). This request resulted in a narrative review (de Villiers, 2008), a presentation of this information to the Treaty Parties (ATCM XXXI WP12, 2008) and requests for further information by Antarctic Treaty Parties on this conservation question (ATCM XXXI, 2008; ATCM XXXVII WP 5, 2014; ATCM XXXVII WP 13, 2014). Requests were made through the Scientific Committee on Antarctic Research (SCAR, 2014).

(2) Search strategy

We searched the published literature using key word searches in the Google Scholar and Web of Science databases (search conducted in October 2013). To formulate the initial search string we used details from a recent narrative review on human disturbance in Antarctica (de Villiers, 2008) to identify the disturbance types and wildlife responses predominantly identified in the literature. We used both structured key word searches, and opportunistic searches with the whole or sections of the initial search string with Boolean search terms: (human OR anthropogenic OR tourist OR ecotourist* OR research*) AND (disturbance OR stress OR activity* OR impact) AND (Antarctic* OR sub-Antarctic*) AND (heart rate OR physiology OR hormone* OR blood OR behaviour OR behavior OR abundance OR population). In addition, we assessed all references included in the review of de Villiers (2008), a global meta-analysis of transmitter effects on avian behaviour and ecology (Barron et al., 2010), a global meta-analysis of hormonal stress responses in birds (Lendvai et al., 2013), and a narrative review of disturbance effects on waterbirds (Carney & Sydeman, 1999). Reference lists from candidate materials were also searched for additional, relevant works. Studies were judged to be of appropriate quality and incorporated into the meta-analysis if they met the inclusion criteria (details below), but we made no further a priori qualitative assessment of study quality. Assessments of study quality are typically performed during systematic review (Pullin & Stewart, 2006; Cook et al., 2013), but are not usually undertaken during meta-analysis because studies are deemed appropriate if they meet the meta-analysis inclusion criteria (Koricheva et al., 2013).

After the removal of duplicates, the total initial list of 1370 materials consisted of peer-reviewed papers, reports, book chapters and dissertations. Because our search strategy identified many materials that were not relevant to our study, we excluded a further 1233 materials based on their relevance, to include a total of 137 candidate materials for a detailed assessment. From these candidate materials, we further only included studies conducted south of 40° latitude, so our analyses include the sub-Antarctic region, in keeping with the SCAR area of interest (SCAR, 2014). We retained studies of bird and mammal responses to human disturbance, and excluded those on disturbance caused by the impact of invasive alien species, camping, habitat destruction, pollution or trampling. The impacts of many of the latter disturbance types have been reviewed in narrative form elsewhere (e.g. Frenot et al., 2005; Tin et al., 2009, 2014).



Fig. 1. Conceptual unified framework adopted in this study on the types of disturbance and wildlife response measurements in the papers reviewed. Heterogeneity in the effects of disturbance on wildlife may be introduced by both the kind of measurement (treatment moderator) and/or methodological and ecological moderator variables. Both ecological and methodological moderators may influence species habituation potential. Picture credits: top (S.L.C.), bottom (B.W.T.C.).

We further selected studies that compared wildlife responses to disturbance quantitatively, under some form of what the authors considered human disturbance ('treatment'), and under conditions that the authors considered free from such disturbance ('control'), in terrestrial regions (details in Section II.3). In total, 62 studies met the criteria (see online Appendix S1) reporting 543 pairwise responses across 17 bird and four mammal species (species names in Appendix S2). We excluded 75 studies that underwent detailed assessment with reasons for the rejections provided in Appendix S3.

(3) Data capture

(a) Data extraction

Studies typically reported data on a disturbance type caused by anthropogenic activities, and data on a response type of wildlife to such disturbances (Fig. 1; Table 1). We could therefore capture data across a range of human disturbance types, and responses of wildlife to such disturbance (Fig. 1; Table 1). Studies were

For example, Giese (1996) compared hatching success of Adélie penguins (Pygoscelis adeliae) in undisturbed colonies to those exposed to simulated tourist visits and nest checking. Studies also included opportunistic observations of animals subjected to disturbance. For example, Hughes et al. (2008) documented short-term behavioural responses of king penguins (Aptenodytes patagonicus) to helicopter over-flights associated with logistic activities in comparison to behaviour before such disturbance. Some studies also made comparisons of wildlife responses to disturbance in discrete spatial regions that were judged by the authors to be subject to regular human disturbance, to other discrete spatial regions without such disturbance. For example, Holmes, Giese & Kriwoken (2005) compared heart rate changes in individuals of royal penguins (Eudyptes schlegeli) in colonies that were regularly visited by tourists (disturbed treatment), to the heart rates of individuals

typically replicated experimental manipulations, where researchers subjected animals to some form of distur-

bance and compared results to the identical species free

from such disturbance (see example papers in Table 1).

Disturbance category	Disturbance definition	Response category of wildlife	y Response/s types	Response example/s	Example papers
Pedestrian	Experimentally induced disturbance by human	Behavioural	Vigilance	Behavioural responses after experimental approaches	Holmes (2007)
Pedestrian	approacti	Physiological	Heart rate	Heart rate increase before and after	Ellenberg et al. (2009)
Pedestrian		Population	Abundance	experimental approacn Hatchling success of species to	Giese (1996)
Vehicle	Wildlife responses to helicopters, snowmobiles or boats, compared to animals free from such distribution	Behavioural	Vigilance	simulated tourist visus Behavioural change after controlled approaches by vehicles	Boren, Gemmell & Barton (2002)
Vehicle	TICC TIQUI SUCH ABUILDATICC	Physiological	Heart rate	Heart rate increase during	Culik et al. (1990)
Vehicle		Population	Abundance	helicopter over-flights Decrease in seal abundance during heliconter over-fliohts	Wheeler (2009)
Research	Fitting devices to animals, banding animals, conducting surveys, handling during research or comparisons of populations	Behavioural	Vigilance, foraging time	Changes in vigilance behaviour or decreases in foraging time caused by fitting devices	de Villiers <i>et al.</i> (2005) and Beaulieu <i>et al.</i> (2010)
Research	מוותכו לסווול אתרו נו כמנווכוור	Physiological	Changes in heart rate, temperature, stress hormones or blood chemistry	Changes in heart rate, stress hormones or blood chemistry	Engelhard <i>et al.</i> (2002 <i>a</i>) and Viblanc <i>et al.</i> (2012)
Research		Population	Abundance and mornhometric changes	Changes in species population	Saraux et al. (2011)
Spatially aggregated	Spatial comparisons between regions that were typically under longer-term and high disturbance regimes from a range of human activities, and compared to regions that the authors considered free from such distribution	Behavioural	Vigilance	Vigilance changes in individuals compared between undisturbed and disturbed regions	Walker <i>et al.</i> (2005) and Engelhard <i>et al.</i> (2001)
Spatially aggregated		Physiological	Heart rate, stress hormones, blood chemistry	Heart rate or stress hormone comparisons between undisturbed	Walker <i>et al.</i> (2005) and Walker, Boersma & Winnefald (2006)
Spatially aggregated		Population	Abundance and morphometric changes	Abundance or morphometric changes in populations between undisturbed and disturbed regions	Wingucu (2004) McClung <i>et al.</i> (2004) and Villanueva, Walker & Bertellotti (2012)

Human disturbance impacts on Antarctic wildlife

from another colony that rarely received tourist visits (undisturbed control).

Studies were only included if an appropriate effect size could be calculated from the data reported, and in which the direction of the response could be ascertained. To do so required one of the following statistics to be reported in the study: mean and variance, *F*-statistic, *t*-statistic, *Z*-statistic, chi-squared, graphics of such statistics, or raw data. WebPlotDigitizer v2.4 (Rohatgi, 2012) was used to capture data from figures. To avoid pseudoreplication, we preferred to capture primary data (means and variation) rather than their derivative statistics (*F*-statistic, *t*-statistic, *Z*-statistic, etc.). Data reported with standard errors and confidence intervals were converted to standard deviation using imputation methods (Higgins & Green, 2011).

(b) Sub-group designation

Evidence for different disturbance types was categorized into: 'pedestrian disturbance', 'vehicle disturbance', 'research disturbance' and 'spatially aggregated disturbance' (see example papers in Table 1). (i) Pedestrian disturbance was restricted to studies where researchers approached animals to simulate pedestrian activity, whether or not the authors intended to simulate disturbance from either research or tourist sources. (ii) Vehicle disturbance consisted of wildlife responses to helicopters, snowmobiles or boats, compared to animals free from such disturbance. No data were found that met the inclusion criteria on disturbances caused by fixed-wing aircraft. (iii) Research disturbance was restricted to intense disturbance typically associated with ecological research. This includes fitting devices to animals, banding animals, conducting surveys, and handling of animals during research. Because the longer-term impacts of research itself on species populations may be pronounced in the Antarctic region (Saraux et al., 2011), we also included seven comparisons of populations that are subjected to such intense research disturbance (treatment) or not (control), in this sub-group. For example, Saraux et al. (2011) compared survival and reproduction (abundance responses) of populations of king penguins (Aptenodytes patagonicus) that were either banded for research purposes (treatment), or not banded (control). (iv) Spatially aggregated disturbances are comparisons between physical regions that are typically subject to long-term and high disturbance regimes from a range of human activities (treatment), with regions that the authors consider free from such disturbance (control). For instance, Walker, Boersma & Wingfield (2005) compared baseline and stress-induced corticosterone hormone changes in Magellanic penguin (Spheniscus magellanicus) from tourist-visited (treatment) or unvisited colonies (control). These comparisons were typically between areas either close to or far removed from scientific research stations, but we included areas that are frequently visited by tourists in this category, as wildlife there may also be subject to human disturbance (Culik & Wilson, 1995; Fowler, 1999; McClung *et al.*, 2004). Although noise pollution can cause disturbance to wildlife (e.g. Barber, Crooks & Fristrup, 2010), no suitable studies in Antarctica were found that satisfied our criteria.

Evidence for wildlife responses across the four different disturbance types detailed above were categorized into three main sub-groups; 'behavioural', 'physiological', and 'population' responses (see example papers in Table 1). (i) Behavioural responses included changes related to an animal's perception of threat (vigilance, aggression, and fleeing or altered conspecific interactions) or feeding behaviours (changes in foraging behaviour or foraging times). (ii) Physiological responses included changes in heart rate, hormonal changes in blood or faeces, temperature changes, blood chemistry or faecal hormone changes. (iii) Population responses included direct changes in abundance of species, or proxies for abundance such as fledging/hatching success and rates of egg loss. Because lower body mass, body condition or body length are often correlated with population decline (Peig & Green, 2009, 2010), we included morphometric measurements for both juveniles and adults as a population response.

(4) Data analysis

(a) Main meta-analysis

We calculated the Hedges g^* metric for each pairwise comparison, that is, the weighted average of the mean standardized difference (based on pooled variance measures; Koricheva *et al.*, 2013). We converted data reported as test statistics to the Cohens *d* effect size (Wilson, 2013), and converted these to Hedges g^* using the 'es.compute' package (Del Re, 2014) in R (R Core Team, 2014). We selected a single effect size measure that could incorporate variance, and to standardize across response variables. All subsequent analysis was conducted in the 'metafor' package (Viechtbauer, 2010) in R (R Core Team, 2014).

Because studies focussed on different species (e.g. Engelhard et al., 2002a; Ellenberg, Mattern & Seddon, 2009), or followed different sampling designs (e.g. Culik, Adelung & Woakes, 1990; Holmes, 2007), and typically reported different numbers of comparisons per study (e.g. Engelhard et al., 2002b; de Villiers, Cooper & Ryan, 2005), we calculated one effect size for each sub-group per paper, which is a standard approach in meta-analysis among studies (Koricheva et al., 2013). Some studies reported across more than one sub-group and so 78 comparisons were obtained in total from the original 62 studies (see online Appendix S1). We then applied the random-effects model across studies (Koricheva et al., 2013) with a maximum-likelihood variance estimator (Viechtbauer, 2010). The model coefficients and their corresponding standard errors for each study were thus used to calculate the overall effect size, as well as effect sizes for all of the sub-groups detailed above.

(b) Heterogeneity statistics

We used two metrics to characterize heterogeneity between studies: the Q-statistic and the I^2 value. The Q-statistic tests for total heterogeneity in effect size, where a significant value indicates that the estimated effect size is more heterogeneous than expected by chance (Koricheva *et al.*, 2013). The I^2 value is the total percentage of heterogeneity that can be attributed to between-study variance (Koricheva *et al.*, 2013). We also plotted effect sizes and confidence intervals from pair-wise comparisons in behavioural, physiological and population sub-groups to visualise better among-study heterogeneity.

(c) Bias analysis

We conducted a funnel plot and cumulative meta-analysis to assess the influence of bias in our study. A funnel plot graphs sample sizes against standard errors. Studies with the largest sample sizes are assumed to have a lower standard error, and so will be near the average effect size, while studies with smaller sample sizes will be spread on both sides of the average effect size. Deviations from this assumed relationship can indicate bias, although the source of such bias may be obscure (Koricheva et al., 2013). Positive asymmetry in a funnel plot is taken to mean publication bias, as those studies with positive effects are submitted and/or accepted for publication with a greater frequency then those with negative effects (Koricheva et al., 2013). A cumulative meta-analysis ranks all studies by precision, by starting with the studies with the largest standard error, after which the comparison with the next largest standard error is added and the effect size is recalculated, and so enables inspection of the development of the observed effect size with the addition of more precise data (Koricheva et al., 2013). Bias in meta-analysis may be introduced by phylogenetic non-independence of species, because more closely related species may have more similar effect sizes (Koricheva et al., 2013). The influence of phylogenetic non-independence is pronounced when conducting fixed-effects meta-analysis, but comparatively little additional variation in meta-analytic outcomes is explained when fitting a random-effects model incorporating a phylogeny (Chamberlain et al., 2012). Since we fitted a random-effects meta-analysis, we did not correct for phylogenetic non-independence.

(d) Effect size direction

Deciding on the direction of the sign of an effect size is essentially arbitrary (Koricheva *et al.*, 2013). We

considered the comparison of the two groups in our meta-analysis as the control mean (no disturbance, M_1), minus the experimental treatment (disturbance, or a spatial region under disturbance, M_2), so that a negative sign in the effect size reflects a negative effect of disturbance on wildlife. However, abundance responses are opposite to this expectation, because a lower abundance of animals under disturbance will be positive when calculating effect size $(M_1 - M_2)$. Here we consider a decline in species abundance from disturbance a negative effect. Therefore, to enable consistent interpretation, the expected direction for abundance responses was inverted in all cases so that a negative sign reflected a negative effect of disturbance. For behavioural and physiological responses we maintained the effect direction as determined by the original authors.

(e) Moderator variables

Moderator variables (covariates) may help to describe variation in effect sizes found in a meta-analysis (Fig. 1). Moderator variables can be ecological variables (related to the taxon or the spatial location of studies), methodological variables (how the meta-analysis was conducted or the nature of the data) or treatment-related variables (i.e. in our case, moderators of disturbance itself; Koricheva et al., 2013). We used a meta-regression analysis to determine the association of moderators with effect size variation. A meta-regression analysis is similar to regression analysis in that variation in effect size is predicted according to the values of one or more moderator, or explanatory, variables (Koricheva et al., 2013). To describe variation in effect sizes from ecological sources (such as environmental gradients or species-specific effects), we analysed the influence of latitude, longitude, species and taxon (birds/mammals) as captured from the source studies. To describe variation in effect sizes from methodological variables (meaning to test if our a priori decision on sub-group designation influenced outcomes) we included covariates describing how the calculated effect size was included in the response sub-group (whether it was a behavioural, physiological or population response), and also how the calculated effect size was included in the disturbance sub-group (whether it was a pedestrian, vehicle, research or spatial disturbance).

Studies rarely reported treatment-related moderator variables, such as moderators that can influence the impact of disturbance itself. Thus, we could not include them in our meta-regression. For example, studies that assessed the influence of pedestrian and vehicle disturbance did not always consider the distance of the disturber to the animal as a potential moderator variable that could influence the disturbance response (Figs 1 and 2). When only considering pedestrian approaches, studies rarely experimentally accounted for or reported data on disturber group size or angle of approach (Figs 1 and 2), despite the presumed influence of



Fig. 2. Studies included in the meta-analysis rarely address the influence of moderator variables on the impacts of disturbance to Antarctic wildlife. Graphed here are pair-wise comparisons included in the meta-analysis (indicated by N) for different moderator variables (distance to disturber, disturber group size, disturber angle of approach, species habituation influence) in cases where such moderator variables could influence the outcome of disturbance impacts. The legend indicates the number of studies that addressed ('Yes'), did not address ('No'), or at least discussed the implications of moderator effects ('Discussed'). We excluded studies on devices fitted to animals because animals are handled, and habituation to devices is rarely quantified.

these moderators on wildlife responses (Culik & Wilson, 1991a; Giese, 1998; Holmes *et al.*, 2005). When excluding studies measuring the impact of devices (since animals may never habituate to them; Barron *et al.*, 2010), the majority of studies did not account experimentally for the confounding factors of habituation [66% (38/58)], although 16 studies recognized and discussed its potential influence on interpretation (Fig. 2). As

Bernard W. T. Coetzee and Steven L. Chown

a consequence, we could not assess the influence of distance to or angle of the disturber, disturber group size, or habituation as a potential explanatory variable across all studies in the meta-regression (or indeed, the meta-analysis).

III. RESULTS

Human disturbance to Antarctic wildlife across all studies for all responses showed a statistically significant negative effect [effect size (ES) = -0.39; 95% CI: -0.60 to -0.18; N = 78; Table 2]. No effect for behavioural responses across individual studies was found (ES = -0.22; 95% CI: -0.71 to 0.26; N = 31; Fig. 3), but negative effects were found for physiological (ES = -0.63; 95% CI: -1.10 to -0.16; N = 19; Fig. 4) and population-level responses (ES = -0.38; 95% CI: -0.57to -0.19; N = 28; Fig. 5). Effect sizes for disturbance sub-groups were negative for pedestrian (ES = -1.28; 95% CI: -2.23 to -0.33; N = 9), vehicle (ES = -1.72; 95% CI: -3.32 to -0.12; N=5) and research activity (ES = -0.29; 95% CI: -0.47 to -0.11; N = 40), but showed no effect for spatially aggregated disturbances (ES = -0.02; 95% CI: -0.36 to 0.32; N = 24; Table 2).Across all studies, effect sizes were statistically negative for birds (ES = -0.38; 95% CI: -0.61 to -0.16; N = 67), but not for mammals (ES = -0.43; 95% CI: -1.11 to 0.25; N = 11).

When analysing the range of responses reported in the literature, we found no effect for behaviours related to vigilance, for blood chemistry and for hormonal physiological responses (see Table 2). However, there was a

Table 2. Effect sizes (ES), lower (ci.lb) and upper bound (ci.ub) confidence intervals and sample size (N) Tau square (I^2) , Q statistic (Q) with its *P*-value (Qp) for all disturbance and response sub-groups, as well as specific responses (SR)

	Sub-group	ES	ci.lb	ci.ub	N	I^2	Q	Qp
Overall	All	-0.39	-0.60	-0.18	78	97.01	767.88	< 0.001
Response	Behavioural	-0.22	-0.71	0.26	31	97.37	367.67	< 0.001
*	Physiological	-0.63	-1.10	-0.16	19	97.15	151.75	< 0.001
	Population	-0.38	-0.57	-0.19	28	92.05	213.28	< 0.001
Disturbance	Pedestrian	-1.28	-2.23	-0.33	9	93.03	103.44	< 0.001
	Vehicle	-1.72	-3.32	-0.12	5	98.74	103.35	< 0.001
	Research	-0.29	-0.47	-0.11	40	92.99	284.46	< 0.001
	Spatially aggregated	-0.02	-0.36	0.32	24	95.66	219.02	< 0.001
Taxon	Mammal	-0.43	-1.11	0.25	11	99.27	75.14	< 0.001
	Bird	-0.38	-0.61	-0.16	67	95.50	674.64	< 0.001
SR	Foraging time	-0.21	-0.61	0.19	13	85.55	85.76	< 0.001
	Vigilance	-0.27	-1.11	0.57	19	98.78	281.31	< 0.001
	Heart rate	-1.42	-2.52	-0.31	8	96.22	117.48	< 0.001
	Blood chemistry	-0.02	-0.12	0.08	1	0.00	0.00	1
	Hormones	-0.05	-0.21	0.10	8	18.53	8.75	0.27
	Temperature	-0.75	-1.05	-0.45	1	0.00	0.00	1
	Morphometrics	-0.56	-0.98	-0.15	8	93.30	65.43	< 0.001
	Abundance	-0.29	-0.49	-0.09	20	89.48	144.95	< 0.001



Fig. 3. Forest plot showing the point effect estimates with 95% CI for studies documenting behavioural responses of species to disturbance, with exact values in the right-hand column. Effect sizes per pair-wise comparison are plotted to visualise effect size variations better across studies. Note the variation across effect size direction, and variation in the width of confidence intervals across different pair-wise comparisons. Studies crossing 0, the dotted line of no effect, show non-significant disturbance outcomes. The area of each square indicates the weight given to that study (due to low variance) while the diamonds indicate the overall effect size estimate across sub-groups, and the random effect (RE) meta-analysis across all studies. Diamond widths indicate 95% CI.

negative effect of human disturbance on heart rate physiology, typified by an increase in heart rate under disturbance (ES = -1.42; 95% CI: -2.52 to -0.31; N = 8). Abundance, that is, both actual counts of individuals and proxies for abundance such as fledging/hatching success and rates of egg loss, also had a negative effect size (ES = -0.29; 95% CI: -0.49 to -0.09; N = 20) and morphometric responses were lower for species under disturbance (ES = -0.56; 95% CI: -0.98 to -0.15; N = 8), which are indicative of population decline.

We found significant and high between-study heterogeneity in effect sizes in all response and disturbance sub-groups (minimum $I^2 > 92.05\%$; Q-statistic significant at <0.001; Table 2). Behavioural responses in particular showed high variance in effect size direction and confidence interval width across individual studies (Fig. 3). Variation in effect size direction and confidence interval width is also evident across individual studies of physiological and population response sub-groups (Figs 4 and 5), although to a lesser extent than that of behavioural responses (Fig. 3). Only hormonal responses showed small $(I^2 < 19\%)$ and non-significant heterogeneity; heterogeneity could not be established for temperature and blood chemistry as sample size was too low (N=1). The relatively asymmetrical funnel plot (see online Fig. S1) suggests that studies with small (or negative) effect sizes are generally published at a higher frequency. The addition of the most imprecise studies in the cumulative meta-analysis initially caused the cumulative effect size to indicate no effect, with a negative effect from the addition of the 43rd study onwards (see online Fig. S2). Thus some form of publication bias in the material considered for our study cannot be ignored, and is likely contributing



Fig. 4. Forest plot showing the point effect estimates with 95% CI for studies documenting physiological responses of species to disturbance. See Fig. 3 legend for details of interpreting forest plots.

to the high heterogeneity observed (Koricheva et al., 2013).

The meta-regression model could only account for 5.8% of the variation in effect size (Table 3). Residual heterogeneity remained high even after fitting the moderator variables (96.2%). Only latitude was a significant predictor variable. However, some cases included multiple effect sizes per study, and also multiple studies per site (thus identical coordinates are duplicated); the effect was no longer significant when only one effect size per study was selected at random and the meta-regression repeated (data not shown).

IV. DISCUSSION

The random effects model across all responses demonstrates a negative effect of human disturbance on Antarctic wildlife, despite small to medium effect sizes and high and significant heterogeneity. Benchmark values for interpreting 'small', 'medium', and 'large' effects in meta-analysis are 0.2, 0.5 and 0.8, respectively (Cohen, 1988). Effect sizes of this magnitude are common in ecological and evolutionary studies (Møller & Jennions, 2002). In a meta-analysis of the effects of human disturbance on the flight responses of ungulates, Stankowich (2008) also found small effect sizes and high heterogeneity in individual effect scores. Barron et al. (2010) found a more consistent negative impact of transmitter devices fitted to birds, but the study still had comparatively low effect sizes. Indeed, high intra- and inter-specific variation in human disturbance impacts, which lower overall effect sizes, are a common feature of these studies (Blumstein *et al.*, 2005; Stankowich & Blumstein, 2005; Stankowich, 2008; Barron *et al.*, 2010). Nonetheless, the overall outcome here is clear – a negative effect of human disturbance on wildlife in the Antarctic.

Our meta-regression model failed to explain the high variation in effect size. Several additional factors not captured in the model might in part explain the high degree of observed, among-study heterogeneity (Figs 3-5). First, outcomes of individual studies might vary due to sampling error. Because recorded responses to human disturbance cannot include all members of a population, estimates of effect might differ from the true estimate (Koricheva et al., 2013). Second, in contrast simply to being a statistical artefact, large variations in effect sizes are commonly found when comparing among studies of human disturbance impacts on wildlife (Blumstein et al., 2005; Stankowich, 2008; Barron et al., 2010). In consequence, this general pattern of variation among taxa in effect sizes probably explains some of the among-study heterogeneity found here. Third, disturbance drivers and measured responses are not necessarily coupled. For example, we found a negative effect of disturbance on wildlife heart rate. However, cryptic physiological changes such as changes in heart rate may occur in a disturbed animal, but not manifest in a behavioural change, such as enhanced vigilance (Gill, Norris & Sutherland, 2001; Beale & Monaghan, 2004a,b). If the response measured is not indicative of the actual response, recorded data may underestimate the true contribution of disturbance to the population in question, which again introduces heterogeneity.



Fig. 5. Forest plot showing the point effect estimates with 95% CI for studies documenting population responses of species to disturbance. See Fig. 3 legend for details of interpreting forest plots.

		Deviance explain	ed 5.77%			
	Res	idual heterogeneity	r (Tau ²) 96.24%			
	Estimate	SE	zval	pval	ci.lb	ci.ub
Intercept	1.02	0.835	1.222	0.222	-0.616	2.655
Latitude	0.023	0.011	2.155	0.03*	0.002	0.045
Longitude	-0.001	0.001	-1.13	0.26	-0.004	0.001
Species	0.013	0.019	0.679	0.5	-0.024	0.05
Taxon	0.2	0.316	0.633	0.53	-0.42	0.82
Response	-0.082	0.125	-0.653	0.51	-0.326	0.163
Disturbance	-0.113	0.119	-0.954	0.34	-0.346	0.119

Table 3. Meta-regression model results for six response variables to explain between-study effect size variation (N = 78)

Only latitude is a significant predictor variable (*P < 0.05), but this significant pattern is removed when only one effect size per study is selected at random and the meta-regression repeated (data not shown). Standard error (SE), standard score (zval), *P*-value (pval), lower (ci.lb) and upper bound (ci.ub) confidence intervals are shown.

Fourth, since moderator variables of disturbance were rarely incorporated, but could introduce variation in effect sizes when not accounted for, their omission from experimental designs might increase heterogeneity in overall effect sizes. Finally, although we did not investigate the likely influence of phylogenetic proximity on variation in effect size (see Section II.4c), we cannot discount entirely that it might be responsible for some of the variation found.

We found no significant effect of disturbance on behavioural responses, but it is unclear to what extent behavioural responses in particular may be obscured by moderator variables, which may alter the direction of the response. These include not controlling for the influence and effects of approach speed and angle (Yorio & Boersma, 1994; Martin *et al.*, 2004; Burger & Gochfeld, 2007), animal temperament (Martin & Réale, 2008), distance to disturber (Blumstein *et al.*, 2003, 2005; Pfeiffer & Peter, 2004; de Villiers *et al.*, 2005, 2006), environmental and sampling area effects (Yasué, 2006), and disturber and animal group size (Geist *et al.*, 2005; Holmes, Giese & Kriwoken,

		Current gui	delines (m)	
Disturbance	Specific disturbance/species	Horizontal	Vertical	Source
Aircraft	Helicopter, one engine	750	750	Harris (2005)
	Helicopter, two engine	1000	1000	Harris (2005)
	Fixed-wing, one or two engine	450	450	Harris (2005)
	Fixed-wing, four engine	1000	1000	Harris (2005)
	All aircraft, bird colonies	930	610	SCAR (2000) and ATCP (2004)
	All aircraft, bird colonies	_	610	GFEA (2013)
Vehicle	All vehicles, all species	200	_	AAD (2014)
	All vehicles, all species	200		ANZ (2014)
Pedestrian	Giant petrels and albatrosses	100	_	AAD (2014)
	Giant petrel	50	_	GFEA (2013)
	Breeding/moulting emperor penguin	50		AAD (2014)
	Emperor penguin colony	30	_	GFEA (2013)
	Nesting penguin	15	_	Giese (1998)
	Seal pups/fur seal/sea birds	15		GFEA (2013)
	Other breeding/moulting birds and seals	15	_	AAD (2014)
	Breeding penguin	10	_	GFEA (2013)
	Non-breeding seal or bird	10	_	ANZ (2014)
	Seal/penguin	5	_	GFEA (2013)
	Non-breeding seal or bird	5	_	AAD (2014)
	Non-breeding seal or bird	5	—	IAATO (2014)

Table 4. Current examples of minimum approach distance guidelines for aircraft, vehicles and pedestrians in Antarctica

2008; Stankowich, 2008; Van Polanen Petel, Giese & Hindell, 2008; McLeod et al., 2013). Not controlling for habituation in particular may obscure behavioural responses (Bejder et al., 2009; Viblanc et al., 2012), and few studies included such controls (Fig. 2). Furthermore, if behavioural responsiveness is positively related to an animal's condition, which many studies assume, behavioural responses might in any case be an inappropriate and inaccurate assessment of vulnerability (Beale & Monaghan, 2004a). Species that show little or no response to disturbance might in fact be those in the poorest condition, and hence 'with the most to lose' (Beale & Monaghan, 2004a). Although behavioural responses are an important first and short-term approximation of human disturbance effects (Tuomainen & Candolin, 2011), they might ultimately mask more insidious impacts, such as those on animal physiology and population responses (Gill et al., 2001; Beale & Monaghan, 2004*a*), an interpretation which our data corroborate. As a consequence of the complexity in summarizing the behavioural responses to disturbance, future work should characterize human disturbance by including physiological and population variables, as here we often found both to be negatively impacted by human disturbance.

The majority of studies were conducted on birds rather than mammals, and the meta-analysis revealed a significantly negative effect of disturbance on birds, but no effect for mammals. The reasons for such a difference are unclear. Birds may be more sensitive to disturbance due to underlying differences among taxa in species physiology, habituation potential or life-history traits (Blumstein *et al.*, 2005; Speakman, 2005; Ellenberg *et al.*, 2009; Viblanc *et al.*, 2012). As variance generally increases with low sample sizes (see online Fig. S2), the low sample sizes for mammal pair-wise comparisons found here may, alternatively, have hindered the identification of an effect.

Given our results, we recommend a more precautionary approach to setting minimum approach distance guidelines. Most existing minimum approach guidelines are precautionary for vehicles and boats, but less so for pedestrian approaches (see Table 4), and minimum approach guidelines are not always specified (ATS, 2014). We found that both pedestrian and vehicle disturbance are significant contributors to wildlife disturbance. A recommendation of a 5 m minimum approach distance to non-breeding wildlife is typical, contingent on how the animal behaves (Holmes et al., 2005; AAD, 2014; IAATO, 2014). The existing guidelines also typically recommend that approaching pedestrians stop or increase the distance if the animal shows behavioural signs of distress (e.g. AAD, 2014; ANZ, 2014). Guidelines will, for example, recommend that 'Distances are only a guide - if you detect signs of disturbance, move further away' (AAD, 2014) and to 'Increase [the prescribed] distance if the animal appears disturbed' (ANZ, 2014). However, our work demonstrates clearly that behavioural changes do not necessarily reflect more cryptic and deleterious impacts. The lack of a discernable effect on species behaviour is of particular concern given the demonstrable negative impacts of disturbance on species physiology and population-level attributes. Because current guidelines are based on behavioural

cues, the results suggest that, presently, real risks of long-term and negative physiological changes and population declines exist for Antarctic wildlife if current, behaviourally based guidelines are maintained. In consequence, we recommend that pedestrian approach guidelines be revisited. In cases where robust and specific guidance after a systematic review cannot yet be made, as is the case here, it is inappropriate to derive generic implications from individual case studies (Stewart et al., 2007). Additional region- and species-specific studies on the intensity, frequency and type of disturbance in Antarctica, taking into consideration potentially confounding factors, would be most appropriate to determine approach and human conduct guidelines for the regions in question. Ideally, recommendations should be formulated and revised when adequate information becomes available for those sites and species involved (de Villiers, 2008).

Most of the pair-wise comparisons in our database focused on disturbances from research itself, and we found a statistically significant negative effect size for such comparisons. Research activities may alter insect herbivory on plants (Cahill, Castelli & Casper, 2001), and plant seedling communities (Goldsmith et al., 2006; Comita, Goldsmith & Hubbell, 2008), and fitting transmitters to birds reduces their breeding success, morphometrics and can alter their behaviour (Barron et al., 2010). Of critical concern for wildlife disturbance caused by research activities is that disturbance from research can itself compromise the interpretation of results and inferences made from the data obtained. Saraux et al. (2011) demonstrated that banding of king penguins (Aptenodytes patagonicus) impairs both their survival and reproduction, ultimately affecting their population growth rate and confounding inference on the impact of climate change on the population. Banding carries a long-term costs for penguins (Jackson & Wilson, 2002; Gauthier-Clerc et al., 2004), and transmitters have a negative effect on bird breeding success and behaviour (Barron et al., 2010). While negative effects of research are not ubiquitous in the region (e.g. Wilkinson & Bester, 1988; Angelier, Weimerskirch & Chastel, 2011), our meta-analysis demonstrates that in general, negative research effects on the physiology and populations of wildlife are clear, and may compromise the objectives of the work. Existing guidelines in Antarctica to reduce the impacts of research protocols make only general recommendations to minimize disturbance (e.g. CCAMLR, 2004), but detailed guidelines are used elsewhere effectively to minimize negative effects of instrumentation, viewing, handling and tagging of animals (Murray & Fuller, 2000; Kenward, 2001; Wilson & McMahon, 2006; Casper, 2009; Barron et al., 2010; Buchanan et al., 2012). If a goal for the future scientific conduct of Antarctic ecological research is to reduce its potentially negative impacts on wildlife, and on research outcomes, formalised guidelines will be

required. Researchers themselves have a role to play in balancing the benefits of data acquisition against disturbance to animals and associated biases, and to implement best practice guidelines to reduce their potential impact (Jackson & Wilson, 2002; Wilson & McMahon, 2006; Barron *et al.*, 2010; Saraux *et al.*, 2011).

V. CONCLUSIONS

(1) Our findings justify the investment in and expansion of management plans by Antarctic Treaty member countries to reduce human impacts, not only to minimize human disturbance to wildlife, but also to manage general environmental impacts (Tin *et al.*, 2009, 2014; Peter *et al.*, 2013). As with determining minimum approach guidelines, species-specific studies in discrete regions, comprehensively considering confounding factors, will aid in determining the extent and impact of spatially aggregated disturbance, and to develop recommendations on how to reduce it.

(2) Our review raises several research questions that may help improve the evidence base for and therefore the management of wildlife disturbance by humans in the Antarctic (Table 5). A critical challenge for disturbance research is to disentangle the influence of human disturbance from other environmental drivers that may influence species populations (Cobley & Shears, 1999; Micol & Jouventin, 2001; Carlini *et al.*, 2007; Le Bohec *et al.*, 2008; Jenouvrier *et al.*, 2014).

(3) Given the variability of responses to human disturbance, future work will benefit from robust experimental designs to minimize sources of variability in effects (Table 6). Improvements include directly assessing the influence of moderator variables, experimentally manipulating the frequency and intensity of disturbances, and increasing sample sizes to improve statistical power (Table 6). Future meta-analysis will also benefit from comprehensive reporting of sample statistics and variance measures. Widespread and evidence-based guidelines to minimize disturbance can only be made if standardized methodologies in research are adopted across sites and species.

(4) We considered the spatially aggregated disturbance sub-group a possible indicator of longer-term effects of disturbance, because areas with longstanding disturbance are compared to controls. However, why no significant effect was found for the spatially aggregated disturbance group is not entirely clear. As discussed above, high heterogeneity in the responses to disturbance in our database might preclude the identification of a clear effect size direction. Although sample sizes are low, effect sizes for population responses in the spatial disturbance sub-group are negative (N=10), while the remaining behavioural (N=10) and physiological (N=4) effect sizes from that sub-group are positive (data not shown). Thus, the balance of comparisons

Торіс	Research questions	Key references
Behaviour	How does behavioural disturbance relate to physiological and population disturbance?	Gill <i>et al.</i> (2001) and Beale & Monaghan (2004 <i>a</i> , <i>b</i>)
	Which behavioural responses, considering species-specific effects, are most indicative of human disturbance?	Bejder et al. (2009)
Physiology	What are the long-term physiological consequences of	Romero (2004)
	disturbance?	Viblanc <i>et al.</i> (2012) and Dantzer <i>et al.</i> (2014)
	Which physiological responses, considering species-specific effects, are most indicative of human disturbance?	Viblanc et al. (2012) and Dantzer et al. (2014)
Populations	What is the contribution of disturbance to population fluctuations in addition to natural environmental drivers, especially over longer time scales?	Saraux <i>et al.</i> (2011)
	Does chronic stress induce population declines?	Romero (2004) and Dantzer et al. (2014)
General	What are the linkages between behavioural, physiological and population responses to disturbance?	Gill <i>et al.</i> (2001), Beale & Monaghan (2004 <i>a</i>) and Dantzer <i>et al.</i> (2014)
	How do responses interact with global change drivers?	Brook et al. (2008) and Saraux et al. (2011)
	Under what disturbance regime, both in timing and frequency, does habituation set in?	Bejder <i>et al.</i> (2009), Ellenberg <i>et al.</i> (2009) and Viblanc <i>et al.</i> (2012)
	How can research impacts be reduced?	Murray & Fuller (2000), Kenward (2001), Casper (2009) and Barron <i>et al.</i> (2010)
	How can transmitter effects be reduced?	Barron et al. (2010)
	What is the impact of human activities to marine animals in Antarctica?	Barber et al. (2010)
	What other human activities may cause disturbance to wildlife?	Tin et al. (2009) and Peter et al. (2013)

Table 5. Conceptual research questions that remain to be answered for future investigations into human disturbance impacts on Antarctic wildlife

Table 6. Recommendations and considerations for future research on human disturbance impacts on Antarctic wildlife

Recommendation	Key references
Account for research disturbance effects, especially transmitter and banding/marking studies.	Murray & Fuller (2000), Kenward (2001), Jackson & Wilson (2002), Casper (2009), Barron <i>et al.</i> (2010) and Saraux <i>et al.</i> (2011)
Replicated study designs and higher sample sizes to improve statistical power. In some areas, where wildlife is sparse and sites distant from each other in the Antarctic, this may be problematic. At others, such as along the Antarctic Peninsula, for example, this may readily be achieved.	Møller & Jennions (2002) and Lynch <i>et al.</i> (2012)
Full reporting of results with variance to allow future meta-analysis.	Koricheva et al. (2013)
Standardized methodology to facilitate comparative research. The Expert Group on Birds and Marine Mammals (EGBAMM) of the Scientific Committee on Antarctic Research provides a useful avenue for developing such standard approaches.	Koricheva <i>et al.</i> (2013) and EGBAMM (2014)
Better linkages are required between drivers of disturbance and measured responses.	Gill <i>et al.</i> (2001) and Beale & Monaghan (2004 b)
Moderator variables (confounding factors) altering disturbance responses need to be explicitly incorporated (such as: distance to disturbance; group sizes; approach speed; approach angle; habituation).	Blumstein et al. (2005) and de Villiers (2008)
Site-based analysis to capture disturbance regimes, regional variation and species-specific effects. These may be especially significant when it is clear that other drivers, such as climate change, sea-ice change and fishing disturbance/impacts are also playing a role.	de Villiers (2008), Lynch <i>et al</i> . (2012) and Trathan <i>et al</i> . (2014)

in either a positive or negative direction will, in part, preclude identifying a statistically significant effect size. Importantly, population responses to human disturbance cannot be attributed solely to those disturbances, and could also be influenced by natural environmental drivers (Cobley & Shears, 1999; Micol & Jouventin, 2001; Carlini *et al.*, 2007; Saraux *et al.*, 2011; Trivelpiece *et al.*, 2011; Trathan *et al.*, 2014). In consequence, a better understanding of the impacts of longer-term spatially aggregated human disturbance is required, especially for managing Antarctic wildlife populations.

Biological Reviews (2015) 000-000 © 2015 Cambridge Philosophical Society

14

(5) In an Antarctic context, future work will benefit from quantifying the extent to which different vehicles and aircraft impact wildlife. Operators use a range of vehicles and aircraft which vary with local conditions and requirements, and different classes of vehicles may differentially alter wildlife responses (McLeod et al., 2013). Because logistic activities are mainly clustered around research stations, renewed attention is required to the long-term population consequences of disturbance, compared to areas free from such disturbance. Better understanding is also required of the population consequences of long-term physiological stress in wildlife in the Antarctic. Because behavioural responses are poor indicators of human disturbance impacts in the Antarctic region, studies should focus on population and physiological responses (Viblanc et al., 2012). Alternatively, at a minimum, a better appraisal of the relationship between behavioural cues and population and physiological responses is required. Innovative methodological advances from the region also provide the potential for minimizing disturbance in future research, such as remote rovers, disguised as penguin chicks, and equipped to make radio-frequency identification (see Le Maho et al., 2014). Renewed attention is also required to advance understanding of the potentially synergistic interactions between long-term wildlife disturbance regimes in the region, and other drivers of change, such as climate change and pressure from non-native species (Saraux et al., 2011; Trivelpiece et al., 2011; Chown et al., 2012a; Trathan et al., 2014). Together with the conceptual research questions and recommendations highlighted in Tables 5 and 6, these are key areas for future work that will enable evidence-based science to underpin guidelines to manage human disturbance in a region undergoing rapidly expanding human activity (Chown et al., 2012b).

VI. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was supported by the Scientific Committee on Antarctic Research. Comments by Aleks Terauds and two anonymous referees improved the manuscript. Hanrie Coetzee redrew Fig. 1.

VII. REFERENCES

* References marked with asterisk have been cited within the supporting information.

- AAD (Australian Antarctic Division) (2014). Guidelines for animal approach distances. Accessed 8 April 2015. Available at http://tinyurl.com/pmlo3ch.
- *AINLEY, D. G. (1983). Breeding Biology of the Adelie Penguins. University of California Press, Sacramento, California.
- *ALLEN, R. G. (1962). The Madeiran storm petrel Oceanodroma castro. Ibis 103, 274–295.
- *ANDERSON, C. (1991). Penguins losing the struggle? Nature 350, 294.
- *ANDERSON, D. J., SCHWANDT, A. J. & DOUGLAS, H. D. (1997). Foraging ranges of waved albatrosses in the eastern Tropical Pacific Ocean. In Albatross Biology and

Conservation (eds G. ROBERTSON and R. GALES), pp. 180-185. Surrey Beatty & Sons, Sydney.

- *ANGELIER, F., GIRAUDEAU, M., BOST, C. A., LE BOUARD, F. & CHASTEL, O. (2009). Are stress hormone levels a good proxy of foraging success? An experiment with King penguins, *Aptenodytes patagonicus. Journal of Experimental Biology* **212**, 2824–2829.
- ANGELIER, F., WEIMERSKIRCH, H. & CHASTEL, O. (2011). Capture and blood sampling do not affect foraging behaviour, breeding success and return rate of a large seabird: the black-browed albatross. *Polar Biology* 34, 353–361.
- ANZ (Antartica New Zealand) (2014). Environmental code of conduct. Accessed 8 April 2015. Available at http://antarcticanz.govt.nz/images/ PDFs/codeconduct.pdf.
- *ARNOULD, J. P. Y., BOYD, I. L. & SOCHA, D. G. (1996). Milk consumption and growth efficiency in Antarctic fur seal (*Arctocephalus gazella*) pups. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 74, 254–266.
- *ARONSON, R. B., THATJE, S., MCCLINTOCK, J. B. & HUGHES, K. A. (2011). Anthropogenic impacts on marine ecosystems in Antarctica. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1223, 82–107.
- ATCM XXX (2007). Antarctic Treaty Consultative Meeting, New Delhi. In Opening and Closing Addresses and Reports from XXX ATCM, New Delhi. Accessed 8 April 2015. Available at http://www.ats.aq/documents/ATCM30/fr/ ATCM30_fr003_e.pdf.
- ATCM XXXI (2008). Antarctic Treaty Consultative Meeting. In Final Report of the Thirty-First Antarctic Treaty Consultative Meeting, Ukraine. Accessed 8 April 2015. Available at http://www.ats.aq/documents/ATCM31/fr/ ATCM31_fr001_e.pdf.
- ATCM XXXI WP12 (2008). Antarctic Treaty Consultative Meeting, Kiev, Ukraine. In Human Disturbance to Wildlife in the Broader Antarctic Region: A Review of Findings, Kiev, Ukraine. Accessed 8 April 2015. Available at http://www.scar. org/treaty/atcmxxi/Atcm31_wp012_e.pdf.
- ATCM XXXVII WP 5 (2014). Antarctic Treaty Consultative Meeting, Brasilia. In UAVs and their Possible Environmental Impacts, Brasilia. Accessed 8 April 2015. Available at http://www.ats.aq/devAS/ats_meetings_documents.aspx? lang=e.
- ATCM XXXVII WP 13 (2014). Antarctic Treaty Consultative Meeting, Brasilia. In *Coastal Camping Activities Conducted by Non-Governmental Organizations*, Brasilia, Brazil. Accessed 8 April 2015. Available at http://www.ats.aq/ devAS/ats_meetings_documents.aspx?lang=e.
- ATCP (Antarctic Treaty Consultative Parties) (2004). Guidelines for the operation of aircraft near concentrations of birds in Antarctica. Accessed 8 April 2015. Available at http://www.ats.aq/documents/cep/ Guidelines_aircraft_e.pdf.
- ATS (Antarctic Treaty System) (1991). ANNEX II. The protocol on environmental protection to the Antarctic treaty. Accessed 8 April 2015. Available at http://www.ats.aq/documents/recatt/Att438_e.pdf.
- ATS (Antarctic Treaty System) (2014). Guidance for visitors to the Antarctic. Accessed 8 April 2015. Available at http://www.ats.aq/documents/recatt/ Att245_e.pdf.
- *AYRES, E., NKEM, J. N., WALL, D. H., ADAMS, B. J., BARRETT, J. E., BROOS, E. J., PARSONS, A. N., POWERS, L. E., SIMMONS, B. L. & VIRGINIA, R. A. (2008). Effects of human trampling on populations of soil fauna in the McMurdo Dry Valleys, Antarctica. *Conservation Biology* 22, 1544–1551.
- *BALLARD, G., AINLEY, D. G., RIBIC, C. A. & BARTON, K. R. (2001). Effects of instrument attachment and other factors on foraging trip duration and nesting success of Adelie penguins. *The Condor* **103**, 481–490.
- BARBER, J. R., CROOKS, K. R. & FRISTRUP, K. M. (2010). The costs of chronic noise exposure for terrestrial organisms. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 25, 180–189.
- BARBOSA, A., BENZAL, J., DE LEÓN, A. & MORENO, J. (2012). Population decline of chinstrap penguins (*Pygoscelis antarctica*) on Deception Island, South Shetlands, Antarctica. *Polar Biology* 35, 1453–1457.
- *BARBRAUD, C., GAVRILO, M., MIZIN, Y. & WEIMERSKIRCH, H. (2011). Comparison of emperor penguin declines between Pointe Géologie and Haswell Island over the past 50 years. *Antarctic Science* 23, 461–468.
- BARRON, D. G., BRAWN, J. D. & WEATHERHEAD, P. J. (2010). Meta-analysis of transmitter effects on avian behaviour and ecology. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 1, 180–187.
- BEALE, C. M. & MONAGHAN, P. (2004a). Behavioural responses to human disturbance: a matter of choice? *Animal Behaviour* 68, 1065–1069.
- BEALE, C. M. & MONAGHAN, P. (2004b). Human disturbance: people as predation-free predators? *Journal of Applied Ecology* 41, 335–343.
- BEAULIEU, M., SPÉE, M., LAZIN, D., ROPERT-COUDERT, Y., LE MAHO, Y., ANCEL, A. & RACLOT, T. (2010). Ecophysiological response of Adelie penguins facing an experimental increase in breeding constraints. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 213, 33–39.
- BEJDER, L., SAMUELS, A., WHITEHEAD, H., FINN, H. & ALLEN, S. (2009). Impact assessment research: use and misuse of habituation, sensitisation and

- BEJDER, L., SAMUELS, A., WHITEHEAD, H., GALES, N., MANN, J., CONNOR, R., HEITHAUS, M., WATSON-CAPPS, J., FLAHERTY, C. & KRÜTZEN, M. (2006). Decline in relative abundance of bottlenose dolphins exposed to long-term disturbance. *Conservation Biology* **20**, 1791–1798.
- *BERROW, S. D., WOOD, A. G. & PRINCE, P. A. (2000). Foraging location and range of white-chinned petrels *Procellaria aequinoctialis* breeding in the South Atlantic. *Journal of Avian Biology* **31**, 303–311.
- *BLACKBURN, N., TAYLOR, R. H. & WILSON, P. R. (1991). An interpretation of the growth of the Adelie penguin rookery at Cape Royds, 1955–1990. New Zealand Journal of Ecology 15, 117–121.
- *BLACKMER, A. L., ACKERMAN, J. T. & NEVITT, G. A. (2004). Effects of investigator disturbance on hatching success and nest-site fidelity in a long-lived seabird, Leach's storm-petrel. *Biological Conservation* 116, 141–148.
- BLUMSTEIN, D. T., ANTHONY, L. L., HARCOURT, R. G. & ROSS, G. (2003). Testing a key assumption of wildlife buffer zones: is flight initiation distance a species-specific trait? *Biological Conservation* **110**, 97–100.
- BLUMSTEIN, D. T., FERNÁNDEZ-JURICIC, E., ZOLLNER, P. A. & GARITY, S. C. (2005). Inter-specific variation in avian responses to human disturbance. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 42, 943–953.
- *BORSMA, P. D., WHEELWRIGHT, N. T., NERINI, M. K. & WHEELWRIGHT, E. S. (1980). The breeding biology of the fork-tailed storm-petrel (*Oceanodroma furcata*). The Auk **97**, 268–282.
- BOREN, L. J., GEMMELL, N. J. & BARTON, K. J. (2002). Tourist disturbance to New Zealand fur seals Arctocephalus forsteri. Australian Mammalogy 24, 85–95.
- *BRICHER, P. K., LUCIEER, A. & WOEHLER, E. J. (2008). Population trends of Adélie penguin (*Pygoscelis adeliae*) breeding colonies: a spatial analysis of the effects of snow accumulation and human activities. *Polar Biology* 31, 1397–1407.
- BROOK, B. W., SODHI, N. S. & BRADSHAW, C. J. A. (2008). Synergies among extinction drivers under global change. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 23, 453–460.
- BUCHANAN, K., BURT DE PERERA, T., CARERE, C., CARTER, T., HAILEY, A., HUBRECHT, D., JENNINGS, N., METCALFE, N., PITCHER, T., PÉRON, L., SNED-DON, L., SHERWIN, C., TALLING, J., THOMAS, R. & THOMPSON, M. (2012). Guidelines for the treatment of animals in behavioural research and teaching. *Animal Behaviour* 83, 301–309.
- BURGER, J. & GOCHFELD, M. (2007). Responses of emperor penguins (*Aptenodyles forsteri*) to encounters with ecotourists while commuting to and from their breeding colony. *Polar Biology* **30**, 1303–1313.
- *BURTON, H. & VAN DEN HOFF, J. (2002). Humans and the southern elephant seal Mirounga leonina. Australian Mammalogy 24, 127–139.
- CAHILL, J. F., CASTELLI, J. P. & CASPER, B. B. (2001). The herbivory uncertainty principle: visiting plants can alter herbivory. *Ecology* 82, 307–312.
- CARLINI, A. R., CORIA, N. R., SANTOS, M. M., LIBERTELLI, M. M. & DONINI, G. (2007). Breeding success and population trends in Adélie penguins in areas with low and high levels of human disturbance. *Polar Biology* **30**, 917–924.
- CARNEY, K. M. & SYDEMAN, W. J. (1999). A review of human disturbance effects on nesting colonial waterbirds. *Waterbird* 22, 68–79.
- CASPER, R. M. (2009). Guidelines for the instrumentation of wild birds and mammals. *Animal Behaviour* 78, 1477–1483.
- *CATARD, A., WEIMERSKIRCH, H. & CHEREL, Y. (2000). Exploitation of distant Antartic waters and close shelf-break waters by white-chinned petrels rearing chicks. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 194, 249–261.
- CCAMLR (Commission for the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources) (2004). CCAMLR ecosystem monitoring program: standard methods. Accessed 8 April 2015. Available at http://www.ccamlr.org/ru/system/ files/std-meth04_2.pdf.
- CHAMBERLAIN, S. A., HOVICK, S. M., DIBBLE, C. J., RASMUSSEN, N. L., VAN ALLEN, B. G., MAITNER, B. S., AHERN, J. R., BELL-DERESKE, L. P., ROY, C. L., MEZA-LOPEZ, M., CARRILLO, J., SIEMANN, E., LAJEUNESSE, M. J. & WHITNEY, K. D. (2012). Does phylogeny matter? Assessing the impact of phylogenetic information in ecological meta-analysis. *Ecology Letters* 15, 627–636.
- CHOWN, S. L., HUISKES, A. H. L., GREMMEN, N. J. M., LEE, J. E., TERAUDS, A., CROSBIE, K., FRENOT, Y., HUGHES, K. A., IMURA, S., KIEFER, K., LEBOUVIER, M., RAYMOND, B., TSUJIMOTO, M., WARE, C., VAN DE VIJVER, B., et al. (2012a). Continent-wide risk assessment for the establishment of nonindigenous species in Antarctica. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 109, 4938–4943.
- CHOWN, S. L., LEE, J. E., HUGHES, K. A., BARNES, J., BARRETT, P. J., BERGSTROM, D. M., CONVEY, P., COWAN, D. A., CROSBIE, K., DYER, G., FRENOT, Y., GRANT, S. M., HERR, D., KENNICUTT, M. C. II, LAMERS, M., et al. (2012b). Challenges to the future conservation of the Antarctic. Science 337, 158–159.
- *CHWEDORZEWSKA, K. J. & KORCZAK, M. (2010). Human impact upon the environment in the vicinity of *Arctowski* Station, King George Island, Antarctica. *Polish Polar Research* 31, 45–60.

Bernard W. T. Coetzee and Steven L. Chown

- *CLARKE, J. & KERRY, K. (1998). Implanted transponders in penguins: implantation, reliability, and long-term effects. *Journal of Field Ornithology* 69, 149–159.
- COBLEY, N. D. & SHEARS, J. R. (1999). Breeding performance of Gentoo penguins (*Pygoscelis papua*) at a colony exposed to high levels of human
- disturbance. Polar Biology **21**, 355–360. COHEN, J. (1988). Statistical Power Analyis for the Behavioral Sciences. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, New York.
- COMITA, L. S., GOLDSMITH, G. R. & HUBBELL, S. P. (2008). Intensive research activity alters short-term seedling dynamics in a tropical forest. *Ecological Research* 24, 225–230.
- COOK, C. N., POSSINGHAM, H. P. & FULLER, R. A. (2013). Contribution of systematic reviews to management decisions. *Conservation Biology* 27, 902–915.
- COOPER, J., AVENANT, N. L. & LAFITE, P. W. (1994). Airdrops and king penguins: a potential conservation problem at sub-Antarctic Marion Island. *Polar Record* 30, 277–282.
- *CROLL, D. A., JANSEN, J. K., GOEBEL, M. E., BOVENG, P. L. & BENGSTON, L. (1996). Foraging behaviour and reproductive success in Chinstrap Penguins: the effects of transmitter attachment. *Journal of Field Ornithology* 67, 1–9.
- *CROLL, D. A., OSMEK, S. D. & BENGSTON, J. L. (1991). An effect of instrument attachment on foraging trip duration in Chinstrap penguins. *Condor* 93, 777–779.
- *CROSBIE, K. (1999). Interactions between Skuas Catharacta sp. and Gentoo pengiuns Pygoscelis papua in relation to tourist activities at Cuverville Island, Antarctic Peninsula. Marine Ornithology 27, 195–197.
- CULIK, B. M., ADELUNG, D. & WOAKES, A. J. (1990). The effect of disturbance on the heart rate and behaviour of Adelie penguins (*Pygoscelis adeliae*) during the breeding season. In *Antarctic Ecosystems: Ecological Change and Conservation* (eds K. R. KERRY and G. HEMPEL), pp. 177–182. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- CULIK, B. M. & WILSON, R. P. (1991a). Penguins crowded out? Nature 351, 340.
- *CULIK, B. M. & WILSON, R. P. (1991b). Swimming energetics and performance of instrumented Adelie penguins (*Pygoscelis adeliae*). Journal of Experimental Biology 368, 355–368.
- CULIK, B. M. & WILSON, R. P. (1995). Penguins disturbed by tourists. *Nature* 376, 301–302.
- *CULIK, B. M., WILSON, R. P. & BANNASCH, R. (1993). Flipper-bands on penguins: what is the cost of a life-long commitment? *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 98, 209–214.
- DANTZER, B., FLETCHER, Q. E., BOONSTRA, R. & SHERIFF, M. J. (2014). Measures of physiological stress: a transparent or opaque window into the status, management and conservation of species. *Conservation Physiology* 2, 1–18.
- DEL RE, A. C. (2014). Package "compute.es". Accessed 8 April 2015. Available at http://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/compute.es/compute.es.pdf). EGBAMM (2014). SCAR expert group on birds and marine mammals. Accessed 8
- EGBAMM (2014). SCAR expert group on birds and marine mammals. Accessed 8 April 2015. Available at http://www.scar.org/egbamm.
- ELLENBERG, U., MATTERN, T. & SEDDON, P. J. (2009). Habituation potential of Yellow-eyed penguins depends on sex, character and previous experience with humans. *Animal Behaviour* 77, 289–296.
- *ELLENBERG, U., MATTERN, T. & SEDDON, P. J. (2013). Heart rate responses provide an objective evaluation of human disturbance stimuli in breeding birds. *Conservation Physiology* 1, 1–11.
- ELLENBERG, U., SETIAWAN, A. N., CREE, A., HOUSTON, D. M. & SEDDON, P. J. (2007). Elevated hormonal stress response and reduced reproductive output in Yellow-eyed penguins exposed to unregulated tourism. *General and Comparative Endocrinology* 152, 54–63.
- ENGELHARD, G. H., BAARSPUL, A. N. J., BROEKMAN, M., CREUWELS, J. C. S. & REIJNDERS, P. J. H. (2002a). Human disturbance, nursing behaviour, and lactational pup growth in a declining southern elephant seal (*Mirounga leonina*) population. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 80, 1876–1886.
- ENGELHARD, G. H., BRASSEUR, S. M. J. M., HALL, A. J., BURTON, H. R. & REIJNDERS, P. J. H. (2002b). Adrenocortical responsiveness in southern elephant seal mothers and pups during lactation and the effect of scientific handling. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B* 172, 315–328.
- *ENGELHARD, G. H., HALL, A. J., BRASSEUR, S. M. J. M. & REIJNDERS, P. J. H. (2002). Blood chemistry in southern elephant seal mothers and pups during lactation reveals no effect of handling. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A* 133, 367–378.
- ENGELHARD, G. H., VAN DEN HOFF, J., BROEKMAN, M., BAARSPUL, A. N. J., FIELD, I., BURTON, H. R. & REIJNDERS, P. J. H. (2001). Mass of weaned elephant seal pups in areas of low and high human presence. *Polar Biology* 24, 244–251.
- FOWLER, G. S. (1999). Behavioral and hormonal responses of Magellanic penguins (*Spheniscus magellanicus*) to tourism and nest site visitation. *Biological Conservation* **90**, 143–149.
- *FRASER, W. R. & PATTERSON, D. L. (1997). Human disturbance and long-term changes in Adelie penguin populations: a natural experiment at Palmer Station, Antarctic Peninsula. In Antarctic Communities: Species, Structure, and Survival (eds BATTAGLIA, B., VALENCIA, J., WALTON, D. W. H.), pp. 445–452. Cambridge Academic Press, Cambridge.

- FRENOT, Y., CHOWN, S. L., WHINAM, J., SELKIRK, P. M., CONVEY, P., SKOTNICKI, M. & BERGSTROM, D. M. (2005). Biological invasions in the Antarctic: extent, impacts and implications. *Biological Reviews* 80, 45–72.
- FRID, A. & DILL, L. (2002). Human-caused disturbance stimuli as a form of predation risk. *Conservation Ecology* 6, 1–11.
- *FROGET, G., GAUTIER-CLERC, M., LE MAHO, Y. & HANDRICH, Y. (1998). Is Penguin banding harmless? *Polar Biology* 20, 409–413.
- GABRIELSEN, G. W. & SMITH, E. N. (1995). Physiological responses to disturbance in animals. In Wildlife and Recreationists (eds R. L. KNIGHT and K. GUTZWILLER), pp. 95–105. Island Press, Washington.
- *GANGLOFF, B. & WILSON, K. (2004). Feeding frequency, meal size and chick growth in the threatened Pycroft's Petrel (*Pterodroma pycrofti*). Notornis 51, 26–32.
- GAUTHIER-CLERC, M., GENDNER, J. P., RIBIC, C. A., FRASER, W. R., WOEHLER, E. J., DESCAMPS, S., GILLY, C., LE BOHEC, C. & LE MAHO, Y. (2004). Long-term effects of flipper bands on penguins. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 271, 423–426.
- GEIST, C., LIAO, J., LIBBY, S. & BLUMSTEIN, D. T. (2005). Does intruder group size and orientation affect flight initiation distance in birds? *Animal Biodiversity* and Conservation 28, 69–73.
- GFEA (German Federal Environment Agency) (2013). Visitor guidelines for the Antarctic. Accessed 8 April 2015. Available at http://www.umweltbundesamt. de/sites/default/files/medien/378/publikationen/visitor_guideline_for_ the_antactic_2013-10-18.pdf.
- GIESE, M. A. (1998). Guidelines for people approaching breeding groups of Adelie penguins (*Pygoscelis adeliae*). *Polar Record* 34, 287–292.
- GIESE, M. A. (1996). Effects of human activity on Adelie penguin Pygoscelis adeliae breeding success. Biological Conservation 75, 157–164.
- *GIESE, M. A., HANDSWORTH, R. & STEPHENSON, R. (1999). Measuring resting heart rates in penguins using an artificial egg. *Journal of Field Ornithology* 70, 49–54.
- *GIESE, M. A. & RIDDLE, M. (1999). Disturbance of emperor penguin Aptenodytes forsteri chicks by helicopters. Polar Biology 22, 366–371.
- GILL, J. A., NORRIS, K. & SUTHERLAND, W. J. (2001). Why behavioural responses may not reflect the population consequences of human disturbance. *Biological Conservation* 97, 265–268.
- GOLDSMITH, G. R., COMITA, L. S., MOREFIELD, L. L., CONDIT, R. & HUBBELL, S. P. (2006). Long-term research impacts on seedling community structure and composition in a permanent forest plot. *Forest Ecology and Management* 234, 34–39.
- HARRIS, C. M. (2005). Aircraft operations near concentrations of birds in Antarctica: the development of practical guidelines. *Biological Conservation* 125, 309–322.
- HARRIS, C. M. (2009). Environmental effects of human activities on King George Island, South Shetland Islands, Antarctica. *Polar Record* 27, 193–204.
- *HEATH, R. G. M. (1987). A method for attaching transmitters to penguins. Journal of Wildlife Management 51, 399–401.
- HIGGINS, J. P. T. & GREEN, S. (2011). Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions. Accessed 8 April 2015. Available at http://www.cochrane.org/sites/default/files/uploads/Handbook4.6Sep2006.pdf.
- *HINDELL, M. A., LEA, M. & HULL, C. L. (1996). The effects of flipper bands on adult survival rate and reproduction in the Royal penguin, *Eudyptes schlegeli*. *Ibis* 138, 557–560.
- HOLMES, N. D. (2007). Comparing King, Gentoo, and Royal penguin responses to pedestrian visitation. *Journal of Wildlife Management* **71**, 2575–2582.
- HOLMES, N. D., GIESE, M. A., ACHURCH, H., ROBINSON, S. & KRIWOKEN, L. K. (2006). Behaviour and breeding success of Gentoo penguins *Pygoscelis papua* in areas of low and high human activity. *Polar Biology* 29, 399–412.
- HOLMES, N. D., GIESE, M. A. & KRIWOKEN, L. K. (2005). Testing the minimum approach distance guidelines for incubating Royal penguins *Eudyptes schlegeli*. *Biological Conservation* **126**, 339–350.
- HOLMES, N. D., GIESE, M. A. & KRIWOKEN, L. K. (2008). Linking variation in penguin responses to pedestrian activity for best practise management on subantarctic Macquarie Island. *Polarforschung* 77, 7–15.
- *HOOD, L. C., BOERSMA, P. D. & WINGFIELD, J. C. (1998). The adrenocortical response to stress in incubating Magellanic penguins (*Spheniscus magellani*cus). The Auk 115, 76–84.
- HUGHES, K. A., FRETWELL, P., RAE, J., HOLMES, K. & FLEMING, A. (2011). Untouched Antarctica: mapping a finite and diminishing environmental resource. *Antarctic Science* 23, 537–548.
- HUGHES, K. A., WALUDA, C. M., STONE, R. E., RIDOUT, M. S. & SHEARS, J. R. (2008). Short-term responses of King penguins *Aptenodytes patagonicus* to helicopter disturbance at South Georgia. *Polar Biology* **31**, 1521–1530.
- *HULL, C. L. & WILSON, J. (1996). The effect of investigators on the breeding success of royal, *Eudyptes schlegeli*, and Rockhopper penguins, *E. chrysocome*, at Macquarie Island. *Polar Biology* 16, 335–337.

- IAATO (International Association for Antarctica Tour Operators) (2014). Guidelines for visitors to the Antarctic. Accessed 8 April 2015. Available at http://iaato.org/visitor-guidelines.
- *IGUAL, J. M., FORERO, M. G., GOMEZ, T., ORUETA, J. F. & ORO, D. (2005). Rat control and breeding performance in Cory's shearwater (*Calonectris diomedea*): effects of poisoning effort and habitat features. *Animal Conservation* 9, 59–65.
- JACKSON, S. & WILSON, R. P. (2002). The potential costs of flipper-bands to penguins. *Functional Ecology* 16, 141–148.
- JENOUVRIER, S., HOLLAND, M., STROEVE, J., SERREZE, M., BARBRAUD, C., WEIMER-SKIRCH, H. & CASWELL, H. (2014). Projected continent-wide declines of the emperor penguin under climate change. *Nature Climate Change* 4, 715–718.
- *KATO, A. K., ROPERT-COUDERT, Y. & NAITO, Y. N. (2002). Changes in Adélie penguin breeding populations in Lützow-Holm Bay, Antarctica, in relation to sea-ice conditions. *Polar Biology* 25, 934–938.
- KENWARD, R. E. (2001). A Manual for Wildlife Radio Tagging. Academic Press, New York.
- *KEPNER, R., KORTYNA, A., WHARTON, R., DORAN, P., ANDERSEN, D. & ROBERTS, E. (2000). Effects of research diving on a stratified Antartic Lake. *Water Research* 34, 71–84.
- *KLOMP, N. I. & SCHULTZ, M. A. (2000). Short-tailed shearwaters breeding in Australia forage in Antarctic waters. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 194, 307–310.
- *KOOYMAN, G. L. & MULLINS, J. L. (1990). Ross Sea emperor penguin breeding populations estimated by aerial photography. In *Antarctic Ecosystems: Ecological Change and Conservation* (eds K. R. KERRY and G. HEMPEL), pp. 169–176. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- KORICHEVA, J., GUREVITCH, J. & MENGERSEN, K. (2013). Handbook of Meta-Analysis in Ecology and Evolution. Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey.
- LE BOHEC, L., DURANT, M., GAUTHIER-CLERC, M., STENSETH, N. C., PARK, Y., PRADEL, R., GREMILLET, D., GENDNER, J.-P. & LE MAHO, Y. (2008). King penguin population threatened by Southern Ocean warming. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 105, 2493–2497.
- Le Maho, Y., Whittington, J. D., Hanuise, N., Pereira, L., Boureau, M., BRUCKER, M., Chatelain, N., Courtecuisse, J., Crenner, F., Friess, B., GROSBELLET, E., KERNALÉGUEN, L., OLIVIER, F., SARAUX, C., VETTER, N., et al. (2014). Rovers minimize human disturbance in research on wild animals. *Nature Methods* 11, 1242–1244.
- LENDVAI, Á. Z., BÓKONY, V., ANGELIER, F., CHASTEL, O. & SOL, D. (2013). Do smart birds stress less? An interspecific relationship between brain size and corticosterone levels. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 280, 20131734.
- *LENIHAN, H. S. & OLIVER, J. S. (1995). Anthropogenic and natural disturbances to marine benthic communities in Antarctica. *Ecological Applications* 5, 311–326.
- LYNCH, H. J., CROSBIE, K., FAGAN, W. F. & NAVEEN, R. (2009). Spatial patterns of tour ship traffic in the Antarctic Peninsula region. *Antarctic Science* 22, 123–130.
- *LVNCH, H. J., FAGAN, W. F. & NAVEEN, R. (2010). Population trends and reproductive success at a frequently visited penguin colony on the western Antarctic Peninsula. *Polar Biology* 33, 493–503.
- LYNCH, H. J., NAVEEN, R., TRATHAN, P. N. & FAGAN, W. F. (2012). Spatially integrated assessment reveals widespread changes in penguin populations on the Antarctic Peninsula. *Ecology* **93**, 1367–1377.
- *MARKS, J. & LEASURE, S. (1992). Breeding biology of Tristram's Storm-petrel on Laysan Island. *The Wilson Bulletin* **104**, 719–731.
- MARTIN, J., NEVE, L., FARGALLO, J. A., POLO, V. & SOLER, M. (2004). Factors affecting the escape behaviour of juvenile Chinstrap penguins, *Pygoscelis* antarctica, in response to human disturbance. *Polar Biology* 27, 775–781.
- MARTIN, J. G. A. & RÉALE, D. (2008). Animal temperament and human disturbance: implications for the response of wildlife to tourism. *Behavioural Processes* 77, 66–72.
- MCCLUNG, M. R., SEDDON, P. J., MASSARO, M. & SETIAWAN, A. N. (2004). Nature-based tourism impacts on Yellow-eyed penguins *Megadyptes antipodes*: does unregulated visitor access affect fledging weight and juvenile survival? *Biological Conservation* 119, 279–285.
- MCLEOD, E. M., GUAY, P.-J., TAYSOM, A. J., ROBINSON, R. W. & WESTON, M. A. (2013). Buses, cars, bicycles and walkers: the influence of the type of human transport on the flight responses of waterbirds. *PLoS ONE* 8, e82008.
- *MCMAHON, C., VAN DEN HOFF, J. & BURTON, H. (2005). Handling intensity and the short- and long-term survival of elephant seals: addressing and quantifying research effects on wild animals. *Ambio* 34, 426–429.
- *MELLISH, J. E., HINDLE, A. G. & HORNING, M. (2009). A preliminary assessment of the impact of disturbance and handling on Weddell seals of McMurdo Sound, Antarctica. *Antarctic Science* 22, 25–29.
- MICOL, T. & JOUVENTIN, P. (2001). Long-term population trends in seven Antarctic seabirds at Pointe Geologie (Terre Adelie) human impact compared with environmental change. *Polar Biology* **24**, 175–185.

- Møller, A. & Jennions, M. (2002). How much variance can be explained by ecologists and evolutionary biologists? Oecologia 132, 492–500.
- *MORSE, D. H. & BUCHHEISTER, C. W. (1977). Age and survival of breeding Leach's Storm-petrels in Maine. *Bird-Banding* 48, 341–349.
- MURRAY, D. L. & FULLER, M. R. (2000). A critical review of the effects of marking on the biology of vertebrates. In *Research Techniques in Animal Ecology: Controversies and Consequences* (eds L. BOITANI and T. K. FULLER), pp. 15–64. Columbia University Press, New York, New York.
- NAVEEN, R., FORREST, S. C., DAGIT, R. G., BLIGHT, L. K., TRIVELPIECE, W. Z. & TRIVELPIECE, S. G. (2001). Zodiac landings by tourist ships in the Antarctic Peninsula region, 1989–1999. *Polar Record* 37, 121–132.
- *NEL, D. C., RYAN, P. G., CRAWFORD, R. J. M., COOPER, J. & HUYSER, O. A. W. (2002). Population trends of albatrosses and petrels at sub-Antarctic Marion Island. *Polar Biology* 25, 81–89.
- *NIMON, A. J., SCHROTER, R. C. & STONEHOUSE, B. (1995). Heart rate of disturbed penguins. *Nature* 374, 415.
- *O'DWYER, T. W., BUTTEMER, W. A. & PRIDDEL, D. M. (2006). Investigator disturbance does not influence chick growth or survivorship in the threatened Gould's Petrel *Pterodroma leucoptera*. *Ibis* 148, 368–372.
- *OLLASON, J. C. & DUNNET, G. M. (1978). Age, experience and other factors affecting the breeding success of the fulmar (*Fulmarus glacialis*), in Orkney. *Journal of Animal Ecology* **47**, 1–16.
- *OLLASON, J. C. & DUNNET, G. M. (1980). Nest failures in the fulmar: the effect of observer. *Journal of Field Ornithology* 51, 39–54.
- *OTLEY, H. M. (2005). Nature-based tourism: experiences at the volunteer point penguin colony in the Falkland Islands. *Marine Ornithology* 33, 181–187.
- PEIG, J. & GREEN, A. J. (2009). New perspectives for estimating body condition from mass/length data: the scaled mass index as an alternative method. *Oikos* 118, 1883–1891.
- PEIG, J. & GREEN, A. J. (2010). The paradigm of body condition: a critical reappraisal of current methods based on mass and length. *Functional Ecology* 24, 1323–1332.
- PETER, H., BRAUN, C., JANOWSKI, S., NORD, T. A., NORDT, A. & STEL-TER, M. (2013). The Current Environmental Situation and Proposals for the Management of the Fildes Peninsula Region. Federal Environment Agency, Berlin, Germany. Accessed 8 April 2015. Available at http://www.umweltbundesamt.de/sites/default/files/medien/461/ publikationen/4424.pdf.
- PFEIFFER, S. & PETER, H. (2004). Ecological studies toward the management of an Antarctic tourist landing site (Penguin Island, South Shetland Islands). *Polar Record* 40, 345–353.
- *PHILLIPS, R. A., XAVIER, J. C. & CROXALL, J. P. (2003). Effects of satellite transmitters on Albatrosses and Petrels. *The Auk* 120, 1082–1090.
- PONCET, S. & CROSBIE, K. (2012). A Visitor's Guide to South Georgia. Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey.
- PONCET, S. & PONCET, J. (2007). Southern Ocean cruising. Accessed 8 April 2015. Available at http://www.era.gs/resources/soc/SOC_web_v2.pdf.
- PULLIN, A. S. & KNIGHT, T. M. (2005). Assessing conservation management's evidence base: a survey of management-plan compilers in the United Kingdom and Australia. *Conservation Biology* 19, 1989–1996.
- PULLIN, A. S. & STEWART, T. M. (2006). Guidelines for systematic review in conservation and environmental management. *Conservation Biology* 20, 1647–1656.
- *RATZ, H. & THOMPSON, C. (1999). Who is watching whom? Checks for the impacts of tourists on Yellow-Eyed penguins *Megadyptes antipodes*. *Marine Ornithology* 27, 205–210.
- R Core Team (2014). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna. Accessed 8 April 2015. Available at http://www.R-project.org/.
- REGEL, J. & PUTZ, K. (1997). Effect of human disturbance on body temperature and energy expenditure in penguins. *Polar Biology* 18, 246–253.
- *RICHDALE, L. E. (1963). Biology of the sooty shearwater Puffinus griseus. Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London 141, 1–117.
- ROBERTSON, C. J. R. (1997). Factors influencing the breeding performance of the Northern Royal Albatross. In *Albatross Biology and Conservation* (eds G. ROBERTSON and R. GALES), pp. 135–145. Surrey Beatty and Sons, Chipping Norton.
- ROHATGI, A. (2012). WebPlotDigitizer v2.4. Accessed 8 April 2015. Available at http://arohatgi.info/ WebPlotDigitizer.
- ROMERO, L. M. (2004). Physiological stress in ecology: lessons from biomedical research. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* **19**, 249–255.
- *ROPERT-COUDERT, Y., WILSON, R., YODA, K. & KATO, A. (2007). Assessing performance constraints in penguins with externally-attached devices. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 333, 281–289.
- RUHLEN, T. D., ABBOTT, S., STENZEL, L. E. & PAGE, G. W. (2003). Evidence that human disturbance reduces snowy plover chick survival. *Journal of Field Ornithology* 74, 300–304.

Bernard W. T. Coetzee and Steven L. Chown

- *SAFFER, V. M., BRADLEY, J. S., WOOLER, R. D. & MEATHREL, C. E. (2000). The effect of human activity on the growth rates of Short-tailed shearwater *Puffinus tenuirostris* chicks. *Emu* **100**, 49–53.
- SARAUX, C., LE BOHEC, C., DURANT, J. M., VIBLANC, V. A., GAUTHIER-CLERC, M., BEAUNE, D., PARK, Y., YOCCOZ, N. G., STENSETH, N. C. & LE MAHO, Y. (2011). Reliability of flipper-banded penguins as indicators of climate change. *Nature* 469, 203–206.
- SCAR (Scientific Committee on Antarctic Research) (2000). Guidelines for the operation of aircraft near concentrations of birds in Antarctica. Bulletin 155. Accessed 8 April 2015. Available at http://www.scar.org/ publications/bulletins/155/resolution2.html.
- SCAR (2014). Scientific Committee on Antarctic Research. Accessed 8 April 2015. Available at http://www.scar.org.
- *SCHIAVINI, A. & YORIO, P. (1995). Distribution and abundance of seabird colonies in the Argentine sector of the Beagle Channel, Tierra del Fuego. *Marine Ornithology* 23, 338–345.
- SHAW, J. D., TERAUDS, A., RIDDLE, M. J., POSSINGHAM, H. P. & CHOWN, S. L. (2014). Antarctica's protected areas are inadequate, unrepresentative, and at risk. *PLoS Biology* 12, e1001888.
- *SIMEONE, A. & SCHLATTER, R. P. (1998). Threats to a mixed-species colony of Spheniscus penguins in Southern Chile. Waterbirds 21, 418–421.
- *SINCLAIR, J. C. (1981). Techniques for observing subantarctic burrowing petrels at the nest. *Cormorant* **9**, 67–72.
- *SMITH, G. T., WINGFIELD, J. C. & VEIT, R. R. (1994). Adrenocortical response to stress in the common diving petrel *Pelecanoides urinatrix*. *Pysiological Zoology* 67, 526–537.
- *Söhle, I. S. (2003). Effects of satellite telemetry on Sooty shearwater, *Puffinus griseus*, adults and chicks. *Emu* 103, 373–379.
- *SOUTHWELL, C. (2005). Response behaviour of seals and penguins to helicopter surveys over the pack ice off East Antarctica. *Antarctic Science* 17, 328–334.
- SPEAKMAN, J. R. (2005). Body size, energy metabolism and lifespan. Journal of Experimental Biology 208, 1717–1730.
- STANKOWICH, T. (2008). Ungulate flight responses to human disturbance: a review and meta-analysis. *Biological Conservation* 141, 2159–2173.
- STANKOWICH, T. & BLUMSTEIN, D. T. (2005). Fear in animals: a meta-analysis and review of risk assessment. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 272, 2627–2634.
- STEWART, G. B., PULLIN, A. S. & COLES, C. F. (2007). Poor evidence-base for assessment of windfarm impacts on birds. *Environmental Conservation* 34, 1–11.
 *SUMMERSON, R. & BISHOP, I. D. (2012). The impact of human activities on
- wilderness and aesthetic values in Antarctica. *Polar Research* **31**, 10858. SUTHERLAND, W. J., PULLIN, A. S., DOLMAN, P. M. & KNIGHT, T. M. (2004). The need for evidence-based conservation. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* **19**, 4–7.
- *TAYLOR, R. H. & WILSON, P. R. (1990). Recent increase and southern expansion of Adelie penguin populations in the Ross Sea, Antarctica, related to climatic warming. *New Zealand Journal of Ecology* 14, 25–29.
- *TAYLOR, R. H., WILSON, P. R. & THOMAS, B. W. (1990). Status and trends of Adélie penguin populations in the Ross Sea region. *Polar Record* 26, 293–304.
- TIN, T., FLEMING, Z. L., HUGHES, K. A., AINLEY, D. G., CONVEY, P., MORENO, C. A., PFEIFFER, S., SCOTT, J. & SNAPE, I. (2009). Impacts of local human activities on the Antarctic environment. *Antarctic Science* **21**, 3–33.
- TIN, T., LIGGETT, D., MAJER, P. T. & LAMERS, M. (2014). Antartic Futures: Human Engagement with the Antartic Environment. Springer, Dordrecht, Netherlands.
- *TRATHAN, P. N., FORCADA, J., ATKINSON, R., DOWNIE, R. H. & SHEARS, J. R. (2008). Population assessments of Gentoo penguins (*Pygoscelis papua*) breeding at an important Antarctic tourist site, Goudier Island, Port Lockroy, Palmer Archipelago, Antarctica. *Biological Conservation* 141, 3019–3028.
- TRATHAN, P. N., GARCÍA-BORBOROGLU, P., BOERSMA, D., BOST, C. A., CRAWFORD, R. J. M., CROSSIN, G. T., CUTHBERT, R. J., DANN, P., DAVIS, L. S., DE LA PUENTE, S., ELLENBERG, U., LYNCH, H. J., MATTERN, T., PÜTZ, K., SEDDON, P. J., *et al.* (2014). Pollution, habitat loss, fishing, and climate change as critical threats to penguins. *Conservation Biology* **29**, 31–41.
- TRIVELPIECE, W. Z., HINKE, J. T., MILLER, A. K., REISS, C. S., TRIVELPIECE, S. G. & WATTERS, G. M. (2011). Variability in krill biomass links harvesting and climate warming to penguin population changes in Antarctica. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 108, 7625–7628.
- *TRIVELPIECE, S. G. & TRIVELPIECE, W. Z. (1994). Banding and implant studies of Pygoscelis penguins. In Report: Workshop on Seabird-Researcher Interactions. Monticello, 15–17 July 1993.
- TUOMAINEN, U. & CANDOLIN, U. (2011). Behavioural responses to human-induced environmental change. *Biological Reviews* 86, 640–657.
- VAN POLANEN PETEL, T. D., GIESE, M. A. & HINDELL, M. (2008). A preliminary investigation of the effect of repeated pedestrian approaches to Weddell seals (*Leptonychotes weddellii*). *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* **112**, 205–211.
- *VAN POLANEN PETEL, T. D., GIESE, M. A., WOTHERSPOON, S. & HINDELL, M. A. (2007). The behavioural response of lactating Weddell seals (*Leptonychotes*

weddellii) to over-snow vehicles: a case study. Canadian Journal of Zoology 85, 488-496.

- *VAN POLANEN PETEL, T. D., TERHUNE, J. M., HINDELL, M. A. & GIESE, M. A. (2006). An assessment of the audibility of sound from human transport by breeding Weddell seals (*Leptonychotes weddellii*). Wildlife Research 33, 275–291.
- *VERDE, C. & DI PRISCO, G. (2013). Adaptation and Evolution in Marine Environments. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- *VERTIGAN, C., MCMAHON, C. R. & HINDELL, M. A. (2012). The effect of investigator disturbance on egg laying, chick survival and fledging mass of short-tailed shearwaters (*Puffinus tenuirostris*) and little penguins (*Eudyptula minor*). Animal Welfare 21, 101–111.
- VIBLANC, V. A., SMITH, A. D., GINESTE, B. & GROSCOLAS, R. (2012). Coping with continuous human disturbance in the wild: insights from penguin heart rate response to various stressors. *BMC Ecology* 12, 1–10.
- VIECHTBAUER, W. (2010). Conducting meta-analysis in R with the metafor package. Journal of Statistical Software 36, 1–48.
- VILLANUEVA, C., WALKER, B. G. & BERTELLOTTI, M. (2012). A matter of history: effects of tourism on physiology, behaviour and breeding parameters in Magellanic penguins (*Spheniscus magellanicus*) at two colonies in Argentina. *Journal of Ornithology* 153, 219–228.
- DE VILLIERS, M. (2008). Human disturbance to wildlife in the broader Antarctic region: a review of findings. Accessed 8 April 2015. Available at http://www.scar.org/treaty/atcmxxxi/Atcm31_wp012_e.pdf.
- DE VILLIERS, M., BAUSE, M., GIESE, M. A. & FOURIE, A. (2006). Hardly hard-hearted: heart rate responses of incubating Northern Giant Petrels (*Macronectes halli*) to human disturbance on sub-Antarctic Marion Island. *Polar Biology* 29, 717–720.
- DE VILLIERS, M., COOPER, J. & RYAN, P. G. (2005). Individual variability of behavioural responses by Wandering Albatrosses (*Diomedea exulans*) to human disturbance. *Polar Biology* **28**, 255–260.
- *VLECK, C. M., VERTALINO, N., VLECK, D. & BUCHER, T. L. (2000). Stress, corticosterone, and heterophil to lymphocycte ratios in free-living Adelie Penguins. *Condor* 102, 392–400.
- WALKER, B. G., BOERSMA, P. D. & WINGFIELD, J. C. (2005). Physiological and behavioral differences in Magellanic penguin chicks in undisturbed and tourist-visited locations of a colony. *Conservation Biology* 19, 1571–1577.
- WALKER, B. G., BOERSMA, P. D. & WINGFIELD, J. C. (2006). Habituation of adult Magellanic penguins to human visitation as expressed through behavior and corticosterone secretion. *Conservation Biology* 20, 146–154.
- *WARHAM, J. (1990). The Petrels their Ecology and Breeding Systems. Academic Press, Amsterdam.
- *WATANUKI, Y., MORI, Y. & NAITOL, Y. (1992). Adelie penguin parental activities and reproduction: effects of device size and timing of its attachment during chick rearing period. *Polar Biology* 12, 539–544.
- *WAUGH, S. M., WEIMERSKIRCH, H., CHEREL, Y. & PRINCE, P. A. (2000). Contrasting strategies of provisioning and chick growth in two sympatrically breeding albatrosses at Campbell Island, New Zealand. Condor 102, 804–813.
- *WEIDINGER, K. (1998). Effect of predation by skuas on breeding success of the Cape petrel Daption capense at Nelson Island, Antarctica. Polar Biology 20, 170–177.
- *WEIMERSKIRCH, H. & ROBERTSON, G. (1994). Satellite tracking of light-mantled sooty albatrosses. *Polar Biology* 14, 123–126.
- WEIMERSKIRCH, H., SHAFFER, S. A., MABILLE, G., MARTIN, J., BOUTARD, O. & ROUANET, J. L. (2002). Heart rate and energy expenditure of incubating wandering albatrosses: basal levels, natural variation, and the effects of human disturbance. *Journal of Experimental Biology* **205**, 475–483.
- WHEELER, M. (2009). The effects of human disturbance on the seabirds and seals at sub-Antarctic Marion Island. PhD Thesis: University of Cape Town.
- *WHEELER, M., VILLIERS, M. S. & MAJIEDT, P. A. (2009). The effect of frequency and nature of pedestrian approaches on the behaviour of wandering albatrosses at sub-Antarctic Marion Island. *Polar Biology* **32**, 197–205.
- WIKELSKI, M. & COOKE, S. J. (2006). Conservation physiology. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 21, 38–46.
- WILKINSON, I. S. & BESTER, M. N. (1988). Is onshore human activity a factor in the decline of the southerhn elephant seal? *South African Journal of Antarctic Research* 18, 14–17.
- WILSON, D.B. (2013). Practical meta-analysis effect size calculator. Accessed 8 April 2015. Available at http://cebcp.org/practical-meta-analysis-effect-sizecalculator.
- *WILSON, R. P., CORIA, N. R., SPAIRANI, H. J., ADELUNG, D. & CULIK, B. (1989). Human-induced behaviour in Adelie penguins *Pygoscelis adeliae*. *Polar Biology* 10, 77–80.

- WILSON, R. P., CULIK, B., DANFELD, R. & ADELUNG, D. (1991). People in Antarctica-how much do Adelie penguins *Pygoscelis adeliae* care? *Polar Biology* 11, 363–370.
- *WILSON, R. P., GRANT, W. & DUFFY, D. (1986). Recording devices on free-ranging marine animals: does measurement affect foraging performance? *Ecology* 67, 1091–1093.
- WILSON, R. P. & MCMAHON, C. R. (2006). Measuring devices on wild animals: what constitutes acceptable practice? *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 4, 147–154.
- *WILSON, R. P., PUTZ, K., PETERS, G., CULIK, B., SCOLARO, J. A., CHARRASSIN, J.-B. & ROPERT-COUDERT, Y. (1997). Long-term attachment of transmitting and recording devices to penguins and other seabirds. *Wildlife Society Bulletin* 25, 101–106.
- *WILSON, R. P., SPAIRANI, H. J., CORIA, N. R., CULIK, B. M. & ADELUNG, D. (1990a). Packages for attachment to seabirds: what color do Adelie penguins dislike least? *Journal of Wildlife Management* 54, 447–451.
- *WILSON, R. P., TAYLOR, R. H. & BARTON, K. J. (1990b). The impact of man on Adélie penguins at Cape Hallett, Antarctic. In *Antarctic Ecosystems: Ecological Change and Conservation* (eds K. R. KERRY and G. HEMPEL), pp. 183–190. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- *WILSON, R. P. & WILSON, M. T. (1989a). A peck activity record for birds fitted with devices. *Journal of Field Ornithology* 60, 104–108.
- *WILSON, R. P. & WILSON, M. T. (1989b). Tape: a package-attachment technique for penguins. Wildlife Society Bulletin 17, 77–79.
- WOEHLER, E. J., PENNEY, R. L., CREET, S. M. & BURTON, H. R. (1994). Impacts of human visitors on breeding success and long-term population trends in Adelie penguins at Casey, Antarctica. *Polar Biology* 14, 269–274.
- WOEHLER, E. J., SLIP, D. J., ROBERSTON, L. M., FULLAGAR, P. J. & BURTON, H. R. (1991). The distribution, abundance and status of Adelie Penguins *Pygoscelis adeliae* at the Windmill Islands, Wilkes Land, Antarctica. *Marine Ornithology* 19, 1–18.
- *YANG, Q., SUN, L., KONG, D., HUANG, T. & WANG, Y. (2010). Variation of Antarctic seal population in response to human activities in 20th century. *Chinese Science Bulletin* 55, 1084–1087.
- YASUÉ, M. (2006). Environmental factors and spatial scale influence shorebirds' responses to human disturbance. *Biological Conservation* 128, 47–54.
- *YORIO, P. & BOERSMA, P. D. (1992). The effects of human disturbance on Magellanic penguin *Spheniscus magellanicus* behaviour and breeding success. *Bird Conservation International* 2, 161–173.
- YORIO, P. & BOERSMA, P. D. (1994). Consequences of nest desertion and inattendance for Magellanic penguin hatching success. *The Auk* 111, 215–218.
- *YOUNG, E. C. (1990). Long-term stability and human impact in Antarctic squas and Adélie penguins. In *Antarctic Ecosystems: Ecological Change and Conservation* (eds K. R. KERRY and G. HEMPEL), pp. 231–236. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.

VIII. SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found in the online version of this article.

Appendix S1. Supplementary database, listing all 62 studies incorporated into the meta-analysis.

Appendix S2. Species included in the meta-analysis.

Appendix S3. Studies excluded from our analyses that underwent detailed assessment (N = 75), with reasons for rejection.

Fig. S1. Funnel plot of effect size standard error plotted against effect size.

Fig. S2. Cumulative meta-analysis of the data set sorted by precision.

(Received 29 July 2014; revised 4 March 2015; accepted 13 March 2015)